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We hope you enjoyed the play on words on our 2011 Annual Report cover. Here at CIMB we are
proud of our red corporate colour and we are also focused on ‘Redefining ASEAN For You’'.

The nations of ASEAN are CIMB’s home space, where we have extensive local knowledge and a
competitive advantage. ‘ASEAN For You’ is our new corporate tagline, reflecting our confidence in
operating across borders and our expansion into eight of the 10 ASEAN countries.

When we talk about ‘Redefining ASEAN For You’, we are talking about opening up opportunities in
the region. We are enabling ASEAN customers to look cross border, to invest wider and to trade more

with each other. We are also positioning ourselves to be the first port of call for investors considering
a business proposition in the region.

We have a network of over 1,000 branches and more than 40,000 staff in ASEAN to facilitate this
connectivity, to expand business opportunities and to catalyse economic integration and we look
forward to reaching our Vision 2015 to be The Leading ASEAN Franchise.
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FINANCIAL
CALENDAR

2011

FRIDAY
25 FEBRUARY 2011

Announcement of the unaudited consolidated financial results
for the fourth quarter and financial year ended 31 December 2010

FRIDAY
25 FEBRUARY 2011

Notice of book closure for single tier interim dividend of 8 sen per
share for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

TUESDAY
15 MARCH 2011

Date of entitlement for the single tier interim dividend of 8 sen per
share for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

WEDNESDAY
30 MARCH 2011

Payment of the single tier interim dividend of 8 sen per share
for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

WEDNESDAY
30 MARCH 2011

Notice of 54th Annual General Meeting (AGM) and issuance of
Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 December 2010

FRIDAY
22 APRIL 2011

54th Annual General Meeting of CIMB Group Holdings Berhad

WEDNESDAY
25 MAY 2011

Announcement of the unaudited consolidated financial results
for the first quarter ended 31 March 2011

TUESDAY
23 AUGUST 2011

Announcement of the unaudited consolidated financial results
for the second quarter and half year ended 30 June 2011

TUESDAY
23 AUGUST 2011

Notice of book closure for the single tier interim dividend of 12.0
sen per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

MONDAY
12 SEPTEMBER 2011

Date of entitlement for the single tier interim dividend of 12.0 sen
per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

FRIDAY
30 SEPTEMBER 2011

Payment of the single tier interim dividend of 12.0 sen per share
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

TUESDAY
15 NOVEMBER 2011

Announcement of the unaudited consolidated financial results
for the third quarter ended 30 September 2011
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Five Year Group Financial Highlights

Total Income Profit Before Taxation Profit After Taxation Net Earnings Per Share

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 Sen

10,483,151
11,810,705
4,626,717
3,500,803
4,030,798
48.72
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7,622,373
3,664,550
2,694,107
2,772,020
2,786,232

1,930,486
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2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

1 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (RM’000)

(i)  Net interest income 6,676,251 6,537,277 6,068,906 4,660,596 4,395,930
(i) Net non-interest income 5,445,778 5,273,428 4,414,245 2,961,777 4,523,785
(iiy  Profit before allowances " 5,492,117 5,264,899 4,931,304 3,597,155 4,762,294
(iv) Profit before taxation * 5,203,142 4,626,717 3,791,293 2,694,107 3,664,550
(v) Net profit for the financial year * 4,030,798 3,500,803 2,786,232 1,930,486 2,772,020

2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (RM’000)

Assets
(i)  Total assets 300,152,709 269,365,244 239,983,999 207,090,759 182,801,239
(i) Loans, advances and financing 183,838,777 159,181,385 142,191,673 117,382,074 95,904,058

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Fund (RM’000)

()  Total deposits 234,897,451 212,937,821 189,013,918 160,543,494 139,751,258
(i)  Paid-up capital 7,432,775 7,432,775 3,631,766 3,678,078 3,374,181
(i) Total shareholders’ fund 25,936,470 23,229,966 20,345,014 17,099,203 15,710,051
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189,013,918
212,937,821
234,897,451

15,710,051
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Funds

23,229,966
25,936,470

20,345,014

0 10 11 07 08 0 10 11
2010 2009 2008 2007
64.38 53.70 39.90 55.02
48.72 39.47 28.59 41.62

1.81 3.09 2.52 3.17
36.58 25.00 25.00 40.00
16.19 14.88 1.77 19.89

4 Based on the weighted average number of 7,432,772,000 (2010: 7,186,034,000) ordinary share of RM1.00 each in issue during the financial year

ended 31 December 2011.

Gross dividend is computed based on the actual payment made in the respective financial years.
The comparative periods have been restated to reflect the adoption of Amendment to FRS 2.

Additonal information:

Total income 12,122,029 11,810,705 10,483,151
Profit After Tax " 4,030,798 3,600,803 2,786,232
Total Assets 300,152,709 269,365,244 239,983,999

7,622,373 8,919,715
1,930,486 2,772,020
207,090,759 182,801,239
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Group Financial Highlights

Consolidated Statements of Income Financial Year Ended 31 December Changes
:‘;ﬁ:ﬁ;’(‘)ﬁ:ﬁ: Statements of 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2009
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 %

Net interest income 6,676,251 6,604,775 6,068,906 4,660,596 4,395,930 8.83 30.22 6.02
Net non-interest income 5,445,778 5,273,428 4,414,245 2,961,777 4,523,785 19.46 49.04 (34.53)
Overheads » 6,629,912 6,613,304 5,651,847 4,025,217 4,248,367 19.12 37.93 (5.25)
Profit before allowances A 5,492,117 5,264,899 4,931,304 3,597,155 4,762,294 6.76 37.09 (24.47)
Allowance for impairment losses on loans,

advances and financing 487,343 607,176 1,022,605 794,715 1,127,431 (40.62) 28.68 (29.51)
Profit before taxation A 5,203,142 4,626,717 3,791,293 2,694,107 3,664,550 22.04 40.73 (26.48)
Net profit for the financial year 4,030,798 3,500,803 2,786,232 1,930,486 2,772,020 25.65 44.33 (30.36)
Gross dividends paid 1,486,555 1,992,167 881,865 836,868 1,346,833 125.90 5.38 (37.86)
Loans, advances and financing 183,838,777 159,181,385 142,191,673 117,382,074 95,904,058 11.95 21.14 22.40
Total assets 300,152,709 269,365,244 239,983,999 207,090,759 182,801,239 12.24 15.88 13.29
Deposits from customers 221,933,142 199,845,664 178,882,336 146,890,210 126,866,791 11.72 21.78 15.78
Total liabilities 273,289,549 245,062,045 217,337,285 188,278,166 165,946,629 12.76 15.43 13.46
Shareholders’ fund A 25,936,470 23,229,966 20,345,014 17,099,203 15,710,051 14.18 18.98 8.84
Commitments and contingencies 414,197,407 349,069,257 322,892,443 321,678,842 267,168,733 8.11 0.38 20.40
Ratios
Core capital ratio (CIMB Bank) A 15.26 14.47 14.81 10.75 9.36 (2.30) 37.77 14.85
Risk-weighted capital ratio (CIMB Bank) A 17.59 15.36 15.06 13.90 12.46 1.99 8.35 11.56
Return on average equity A 16.4 16.19 14.88 11.77 20.05 8.80 26.42 (41.30)
Retun on total assets 1.34 1.30 1.16 0.93 1.562 11.94 24.55 (38.59)
Cost to income ratio 54.69 55.68 52.96 52.81 47.63 513 0.29 10.87
Cost to total assets 2.21 2.46 2.31 1.94 2.32 6.13 19.02 (16.37)
Gross impaired/non-performing loans to

gross loans 5.11 6.14 4.98 4,94 7.25 23.26 0.79 (31.86)
Loan loss coverage ratio 81.12 81.12 90.76 88.05 69.30 (10.63) 3.08 27.06
Loan deposit ratio 82.84 79.65 79.49 79.91 75.59 0.21 (0.53) 5.71
Equity to assets 8.64 8.62 8.48 8.26 8.59 1.73 2.67 (3.92)
Equity to loans 14.11 14.59 14.31 14.57 16.38 1.99 (1.78) (11.07)

Other information
Earnings per share (sen)

- basic *A 54.23 48.72 39.47 28.59 41.62 23.44 38.03 (31.30)
— fully diluted* n/a n/a n/a 28.88 41.89 n/a n/a (31.05)
Net tangible assets per share (RM) 2.15 1.81 3.09 2.52 3.17 (41.31) 22.53 (20.55)
Gross dividend per share (sen) 20.00 36.58 25.00 25.00 40.00 46.30 - (37.50)
Number of shares in issue (‘000) 7,432,775 7,432,775 3,631,766 3,578,078 3,374,181 110.45 (1.29) 6.04
Weighted average number of shares in issue (‘000) 7,432,772 7,186,034 7,059,934 6,751,796 3,330,288 1.79 4.56 102.74
Share price at year-end (RM) 7.44 8.50 12.84 5.85 11.00 (33.80) 119.49 (46.82)
Number of employees 40,244 36,984 35,922 31,932 25,614 2.96 12.50 24.67

The Bank has applied paragraph 7.2 of Risk Weighted Capital Adequacy Framework (Basel Il) — Disclosure Requirements (Pillar 3) dated 5 February 2010, where the Bank is
exempted from disclosing comparative figures in the previous reporting periods.

A The comparative periods have been restated to reflect the adoption of Amendment to FRS 2.
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Simplified Group Balance Sheet
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2011 2010
Cash and balances with
B banks and reverse 14.3% 15.9%
repurchase agreements
u F’ortfollo of financial 16.2% 17.2%
investments
u IToansl, advances and 61.2% 59.1%
financing
Statutory deposits with o o
u Central Banks 1.7% - 0.5%
IOtherlassets (including 6.5% 7.3%
intangible assets)
2011 2010
B Deposits from customers 73.9% 74.2%
B Deposits from banks 4.7% 4.9%
Bills and acceptances o o
payable and other liabilities 6.7%  6.8%
Debt securities issued and
o, o)
other borrowed funds 58%  5.2%
[ Share capital 25% 2.8%
B Reserves 6.2% 5.9%
[] Preference shares 01% 0.1%
B Non-controlling interests 0.2% 0.3%
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Capital Management

FRAMEWORK

CIMB Group has always maintained a strong capital position that consistently ensures an optimal capital structure to meet the requirements of its various
stakeholders, including customers, shareholders, regulators and external rating agencies. This has enabled the Group to firmly support the demands for capital
for organic growth of its core businesses through economic cycles including market shocks and stressed conditions, take advantage of opportunities in
strategic acquisitions as well as new businesses, tap the capital markets to enhance and diversify sources of capital, and provide a stable dividend payout
to its shareholders.

The Group’s capital management practice is underpinned by a capital management framework with the following objectives:
e To maintain a strong capital base to meet regulatory capital requirements at all times.

e To optimise returns to shareholders through providing sustainable return on equity and stable dividend payout.

e To retain optimal levels of capital to support the organic growth of core businesses and expansion into new businesses.
e To maintain strong credit ratings from external rating agencies.

e To maintain a robust capital base to be able to withstand stress scenarios.

e To remain flexible to take advantage of strategic acquisitions to enhance the Group’s franchise value.

e To ensure a capital position that is able to meet the requirements of various other stakeholders of the Group (e.g. customers, corporate responsibility
commitments, etc.).

The Group has maintained a healthy capital base over the years and actively tapped alternative capital from local as well as overseas markets. The Group
has issued non-dilutive guaranteed preference shares, tax deductible non-dilutive innovative and non-innovative Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 subdebt, to achieve
an optimal mix of capital which met the objectives of the capital management framework and also facilitated several major acquisitions such as the merger
between PT Bank Niaga Tbk and PT Bank Lippo Tbk, acquisition of Bank of Yingkou Co. Ltd. and BankThai Public Company Limited and at the same time,
enabled a good record of return on equity as well as dividend payout to its shareholders. More details of the types of capital instruments issued can be
found on pages 113 to 122.

FY2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010 FY2011

RM million RM million RM million RM miillion RM million

Total shareholders’ funds 15,710 17,099 20,345 23,230 25,936
Long term debt/hybrid capital 8,282 10,421 10,893 14,743 18,144
Net profit for the financial year A 2,772 1,930 2,786 3,501 4,031
Return on average equity ~ 19.89% 11.77% 14.88% 16.19% 16.40%
Gross dividend (sen) * 40.0 25.0 25.0 36.58 20.00

* Gross dividend is computed based on actual payment made in the respective financial years.
N The comparative periods have been restated to reflect the adoption of Amendment to FRS 2.

The Group’s regulated banking entities have always maintained a high set of internal targets (which provide a buffer) above the minimum regulatory
requirements. The table below shows the relevant capital ratios of each of the regulated banking entities of the Group in comparison to the minimum level
required by the respective central banks.

Core Tier 1 Tier 1 RWCR
As at Minimum As at Minimum As at Minimum
31 December Regulatory 31 December Regulatory 31 December Regulatory
2011 Ratio 2011 Ratio 2011 Ratio
CIMB Bank 11.87% 2.00% 14.45% 4.00% 16.78% 8.00%
CIMB Investment Bank 16.29% 2.00% 16.29% 4.00% 16.29% 8.00%
CIMB  Islamic 10.44% 2.00% 10.44% 4.00% 14.42% 8.00%
CIMB Niaga N/A N/A 10.17% N/A 13.09% 8.00%
CIMB Thai N/A N/A 7.65% 4.25% 13.00% 8.50%

The advent of the global financial crisis has necessitated more stringent rules on capital requirements for financial institutions which are being implemented
by regulators in phases.
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Capital Management

BASEL Il GUIDELINES

On 16 December 2011, Bank Negara Malaysia (BNM) issued a notification on Basel lll. The notification sets out BNM’s approach to incorporating the individual
elements of the Basel Ill reform package into the domestic regulatory and supervisory framework, as well as its expectations of banking institutions with
respect to managing the transition towards the new regime.

The Basel Committee finalised a package of measures to strengthen global capital and liquidity rules for financial institutions in December 2010 which
include:

e Enhancing the definition of capital.
e Raising the minimum capital requirements and introducing capital buffers.
e Enhancing the risk coverage of the capital framework.

e Implementation of the Leverage Ratio which requires a minimum of 3% calculated based on Tier 1 capital over total assets, off balance sheet items and
net derivatives.

e Additional loss absorbency requirements for systemically important financial institutions.

e Implementation of Liquidity Coverage Ratio and Net Stable Funding Ratio.

BNM has indicated that it will support the globally-agreed levels and implementation timeline which provides for gradual phase-in of the standards beginning
2013 until 2019 as shown in the table below.

Phase-in Arrangements 2013 2014 2015 2018
Leverage Ratio Observation period reporting Standard in force
Minimum common equity capital ratio 3.5% 4.0% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%
Capital conservation buffer 0.625% 1.25% 1.875% 2.5%
Minimum common equity + conservation 3.5% 4.0% 4.5% 5.125% 5.75% 6.375% 7.0%
buffer
Minimum tier 1 capital 4.5% 5.5% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0% 6.0%
Minimum tier 1 capital + conservation 4.5% 5.5% 6.0% 6.625% 7.250% 7.875% 8.5%
buffer
Minimum total capital 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.0%
Minimum total capital + conservation 8.0% 8.0% 8.0% 8.625% 9.25% 9.875% 10.5%
buffer
Capital instruments that no longer qualify Phased out over a 10 year horizon beginning 2013

as non-core tier 1 or tier 2 capital

Liquidity Coverage Ratio Observation period reporting Standard in force

Net Stable Funding Ratio Observation period reporting Standard in force
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Capital Management

PILLAR 2 - INTERNAL CAPITAL ADEQUACY ASSESSMENT PROCESS (ICAAP)

The Group has implemented its internal economic capital framework since 2001, whereby capital is allocated to all business units for its risk-taking purposes.
The Group’s existing economic capital framework is being refined to include other risks, in line with the requirements of BNM’s RWCAF-ICAAP (Pillar 2) for
banks adopting the Internal Ratings-Based (IRB) approach to develop a robust risk management framework to assess the adequacy of its internal economic
capital in relation to the risk profile.

PILLAR 1 PILLAR 2 PILLAR 3

v MININUM CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS SUPERVISORY REVIEW PROCESS v MARKET DISCIPLINE

Methodologies/Approaches: . Bank to have internal capital Disclosure requirements:
1. Credit Risk adequacy assessment

Blooess (CAAP) General Qualitative & Quantitative

Disclosures (Scope of application,
Supervisory review and action capital structure, capital adequacy,
credit risk, credit risk mitigation,
market risk, operational risk, etc.)

2. Market Risk
3. Operational Risk

Bank to operate above
minimum capital ratio

Early intervention of regulator

The objective of Pillar 2 is to ensure that banking institutions have adequate capital to support their operations at all times. It also promotes the adoption of
a more forward looking approach to capital management and encourages banking institutions to develop and employ more rigorous risk management
techniques. In line with these Pillar 2 guidelines, the Group has submitted its action plans and gaps assessments to BNM and has also established a
dedicated ICAAP Working Group to implement the Pillar 2 program which is being driven by Group Risk Management, supported by Capital and Balance
Sheet Management and Group Finance for capital allocation and performance measurement review and analysis.
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The ICAAP Framework that the Group is working towards comprises 5 main elements:

Governance by the Board and Senior Management: The Board and Senior Management are responsible to ensure that capital levels in the Group
are proportionate to the level and complexity of the inherent material risks in the Group.

Comprehensive Risk Assessment: Comprehensive risk assessment involves considering the potential financial or reputational impact of material risks
on the Group. Material risks can be measureable or non-measurable and are identified, evaluated, measured, mitigated and monitored/reported on a
regular basis according to the Group’s risk management process.

Economic Capital Computation and Allocation: Each year, capital will be allocated to each business unit based on the respective business plan,
budgeted profit and targeted Risk Adjusted Return On Capital (RAROC).

Sound Capital Management: The internal capital targets for the Group are recommended and set by the Group Executive Committee and approved by
the relevant Board of Directors on an annual basis.

Capital Adequacy Assessment: In assessing its regulatory and economic capital adequacy, the Group adopts several methodologies, including stress
tests which are integrated into the Group’s risk management process. Each methodology used to assess and quantify material risks are validated by an
independent team and periodically reviewed by Group Internal Audit. Capital utilisation and the Group’s overall regulatory and economic capital positions
are monitored and reported to the Group Risk Committee and Board Risk Committee on a monthly basis.

KEY INITIATIVES

Following the re-organisation of CIMB Group in 2011, the Group has strengthened its capital management process through the establishment of a new,
centralised and independent unit called Capital and Balance Sheet Management (CBSM). This unit has oversight from the Group EXCO and is charged with
maintaining discipline over investment and capital allocation decisions and implementing key initiatives to better position the Group amidst the changing
competitive, regulatory and social landscape.

Working closely with various other divisions of the Group (e.g. Group Risk Management, Group Finance and the Business Units), some of the key initiatives
of CBSM include:-

Formalising the annual capital planning exercise through a forward-looking capital plan that forecasts capital demands and assesses capital adequacy,
taking into account the Group’s strategy, operating environment of its business in different jurisdictions, target capital ratios and composition and
expectations of stakeholders.

Periodic review of the capital plan to ensure internal capital targets can be met and to realign the plan where necessary, in preparation of implementation
of any new capital requirements from the various stakeholders

Allocating capital to businesses on the basis of their economic profit generation, regulatory capital requirements and cost of capital based on BNM'’s
RWCAF-ICAAP (Pillar 2) framework. This is to ensure that the returns on investments are adequate after taking into account the cost of capital and
commensurate with the risks undertaken.

Enhancement of risk-based stress testing to maintain an optimal capital capacity for loss absorption.

Active management of capital to strengthen and optimise the capital base through asset securitisation, sale of non-core assets and non-performing loans
and other initiatives that will free up capital.

Continuous capital planning, including assessing the feasibility of new issuance of Basel 3 compliant capital instruments and/or capital relief exercises to
manage capital adequacy on a sustainable basis and taking into consideration the new capital adequacy framework under Basel 3 which will commence
from 1 January 2013.

The Group is confident that given its healthy capital position and strengthened capital management governance and framework, it is well-placed to meet the
requirements of the various stakeholders of the Group (including customers, shareholders, regulators and external rating agencies) amidst the changing
competitive, regulatory and social environment.
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Value Added Statement

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Value added
Net interest income 6,676,251 6,604,775
Income from Islamic banking operations 1,470,321 1,330,036
Non-interest income 3,975,457 3,943,392
Overheads excluding personnel costs and depreciation (2,779,772) (2,946,346)
Allowances for impairment losses on loans, advances and financing (487,343) (607,176)
Other allowances written back/(made) 47,337 (127,174)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 16,993 9,548
Share of results of associates 134,038 86,620
Value added available for distribution 9,053,282 8,293,675

Distribution of Value Added
To employees:

Personnel costs 3,517,935 3,321,563
To the Government:

Taxation 1,128,816 956,830
To providers of capital:

Dividends paid to shareholders 1,486,555 1,992,167

Minority interest 43,528 169,084
To reinvest to the Group:

Depreciation 332,205 345,395

Retained profit 2,544,243 1,508,636

Value added available for distribution 9,053,282 8,293,675




CIMB GROUP HOLDINGS BERHAD 01 1 ‘ Annual Report 2011
Financial Statements

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

In Relation to Financial Statements

Pursuant to paragraph 15.26(a) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, and as required by Companies Act, 1965 (the
Act), the Directors are responsible to ensure that the financial statements prepared for each financial year, give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and the Company as at the end of the financial year and of the results and cashflows for the year then ended. As required by the Act and the
Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
approved accounting standards in Malaysia and the provisions of the Act.

The Directors consider that, in preparing the financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Group and the Company have used
appropriate accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and ensured that all applicable
approved accounting standards have been followed and confirm that the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group and the Company maintains adequate accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
the financial position of the Group and the Company to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements of the Act.

The Directors have a general duty to take such steps as are reasonably available to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and the Company, and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Directors’ Report

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Report and the Audited Financial Statements of the Group and the Company for the financial year ended
31 December 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the financial year is investment holding. The principal activities of the significant subsidiaries as set out in Note
12 to the Financial Statements, consist of commercial banking, investment banking, Islamic banking, offshore banking, debt factoring, trustee and nominee
services, property ownership and management, management of unit trust funds and fund management business, stock and sharebroking and the provision
of other related financial services. There was no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group The Company

RM’000 RM’000

Net profit after taxation attributable to:

— Owners of the Parent 4,030,798 1,504,611
— Non-controlling interests 43,528 -

4,074,326 1,504,611
DIVIDENDS

The dividends on ordinary shares paid or declared by the Company since 31 December 2010 were as follows:

RM’000

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2010:

Dividend on 7,432,772,311 ordinary shares, paid on 31 March 2011
— single tier second interim dividend of 8.0 sen per ordinary share 594,622

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011:

Dividend on 7,432,771,757 ordinary shares, paid on 30 September 2011
— single tier interim dividend of 12.0 sen per ordinary share 891,933

The Directors have declared a single tier second interim dividend of 10 sen per ordinary share, on 7,432,771,631 ordinary shares amounting to RM743,277,163
in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011. The single tier second interim dividend was approved by the Board of Directors on 27 February
2012,

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

RESERVES, PROVISIONS AND ALLOWANCES

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions or allowances during the financial year other than those disclosed in the Financial Statements
and Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Directors’ Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

ISSUANCE OF SHARES

There were no changes to the authorised, issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the financial year.

SHARE BUY-BACK AND CANCELLATION

The shareholders of the Company, had via an ordinary resolution passed at the Annual General Meeting held on 22 April 2011, approved the Company’s
plan and mandate to authorise the Directors of the Company to buy back up to 10% of its existing paid-up share capital. The Directors of the Company are
committed to enhance the value of the Company to its shareholders and believe that the share buy-back can be applied in the best interest of the Company
and its shareholders.

During the financial year, the Company bought back 1,004 shares, as stated in Note 30(b) to the Financial Statements, at an average price of RM8.60 per
share from the open market using internally generated funds. As at 31 December 2011, there were 3,004 ordinary shares held as treasury shares. Accordingly,
the adjusted issued and paid-up share capital of the Company with voting rights as at 31 December 2011 was 7,432,771,642 shares.

The shares purchased are held as treasury shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 67A of the Companies Act, 1965.

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Group’s employee benefit schemes are explained in Note 42 to the Financial Statements.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS, AND FINANCING

Before the Financial Statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that proper action had
been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and financing and the making of allowance for doubtful debts and financing, and satisfied themselves
that all known bad debts and financing had been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts and financing.

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amounts written off for bad debts and financing, or the
amount of the allowance for doubtful debts and financing in the Financial Statements of the Group and of the Company, inadequate to any substantial
extent.

CURRENT ASSETS

Before the Financial Statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps to ascertain that any current assets,
other than debts and financing, which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business, their values as shown in the accounting records of the
Group and of the Company had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values attributed to current assets in the Financial
Statements of the Group and of the Company misleading.

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation
of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.
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CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES
At the date of this Report, there does not exist:

(@ any charge on the assets of the Group or the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liability of any other
person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Group or the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year other than in the ordinary course of
business.

No contingent or other liability in the Group or the Company has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve months
after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the ability of the Group and the Company to meet
their obligations when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this Report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this Report or the Financial Statements of the Group
and of the Company, that would render any amount stated in the Financial Statements misleading.

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE
In the opinion of the Directors:

(@ the results of the Group’s and the Company’s operations for the financial year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of
a material and unusual nature other than those disclosed in Notes 46 and 52 to the Financial Statements; and

(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this Report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual
nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group or the Company for the financial year in which this Report is made.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company who have held office since the date of the last report and at the date of this report are as follows:

Tan Sri Dato’ Md Nor bin Md Yusof

Dato’ Sri Mohamed Nazir bin Abdul Razak

Dato’ Zainal Abidin bin Putih

Dato’ Hamzah bin Bakar

Datuk Dr Syed Muhamad bin Syed Abdul Kadir

Dato’ Robert Cheim Dau Meng

Cezar Peralta Consing

Glenn Muhammad Surya Yusuf

Watanan Petersik

Katsumi Hatao (Appointed on 23 February 2012)

Tan Sri Dato* Seri Haidar bin Mohammed Nor (retired on 22 April 2011)
Dato’ Mohd Shukri bin Hussin (Resigned on 31 December 2011)
Hiroyuki Kudo (Resigned on 23 February 2012)

In accordance with Article 76 of the Articles of Association, the following Directors retire from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election:

Dato’ Hamzah bin Bakar
Dato’ Zainal Abidin bin Putih
Datuk Dr Syed Muhamad bin Syed Abdul Kadir

In accordance with Article 83 of the Article of Association, Katsumi Hatao retires from the Board at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible,
offers himself for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, SHARE OPTIONS AND DEBENTURES

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the beneficial interests of Directors who held office at the end of the financial year in the shares, share
options and debentures of the Company during the financial year are as follows:

No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each

As at Acquired/ As at
1 January Granted Disposed 31 December

CIMB Group Holdings Berhad
Direct interest

Tan Sri Dato’ Md Nor bin Md Yusof 400,000 - - 400,000
* Dato’ Sri Mohamed Nazir bin Abdul Razak 54,926,522 469,353** - 55,395,875
A Dato’ Zainal Abidin bin Putih 110,000 - - 110,000

Dato’ Robert Cheim Dau Meng 100,000 15,592** - 115,592

Note: Includes shareholding of spouse/child, details of which are as follows:

No. of ordinary shares of RM1 each

As at As at

1 January Acquired Disposed 31 December

* Dato’ Azlina binti Abdul Aziz 8,000,000 - - 8,000,000
AN Datin Jasmine binti Abdullah Heng 20,000 - - 20,000
N Mohamad Ari Zulkarnain bin Zainal Abidin 10,000 - - 10,000

*%

Shares granted under Equity Ownership Plan (“EOP”)

No. of debentures held

As at Acquired/ As at
1 January Granted Disposed 31 December

CIMB Group Holdings Berhad
- Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes
Dato’ Robert Cheim Dau Meng RM1,000,000 - - RM1,000,000

CIMB Niaga Tbk
- Subordinated Notes
Dato’ Robert Cheim Dau Meng IDR1,000,000,000 - - IDR1,000,000,000

Other than as disclosed above, according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the Directors in office at the end of the financial year did not hold any
interest in shares and options over shares in the Company, or shares, options over shares and debentures of its related corporations during the financial
year.
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive any benefit (other than Directors’
remuneration disclosed in Note 37 to the Financial Statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or
with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a substantial financial interest.

Neither at the end of the financial year, nor at any time during the financial year, did there subsist any other arrangements to which the Company is a party,
with the object or objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate, other than the Management Equity Scheme and Equity Ownership Plan (see Note 42 to the Financial Statements) as disclosed
in this Report.

2011 BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY

CIMB Group’s overall business strategy for 2011 was reflected in its corporate theme for the year, “Think ASEAN’. We focused on strengthening our ASEAN
identity amongst all staff, positioning ourselves as an ASEAN champion in the markets we serve and leveraging our regional platform to bring our local
knowledge of ASEAN markets and our regional capabilities closer to our customers.

We began the year on a cautious note, fully aware of the uncertainties surrounding the recovery in developed economies. However, it was unlikely that anyone
could have foreseen the debt crisis in Europe, political tensions in the Middle East and Northern Africa and natural disasters in Asia, and their collective impact
on global investor sentiment and overall business confidence. Despite these challenges, ASEAN, our core operating market, was relatively insulated and CIMB
Group still managed to post record profits and return on equity (“ROE”).

2011 was also the year the Group embraced Vision 2015 (“V15”) after having successfully achieved most of our targets of our preceding five-year
transformation plan, Vision 2010. V15 represents the next growth chapter for CIMB Group where by 2015 we aspire to be The Leading ASEAN Franchise,
not just amongst financial institutions, but across all industries.

We began laying the foundations for this new transformative growth phase in 2011. Following the ‘refresh’ of the Malaysian consumer bank at the beginning
of the year, when we streamlined business and product lines, we initiated a realignment of our wholesale banking management platform in 3Q 2011. This
re-positioning will allow the Group to optimise synergies between its various business lines, especially for large corporates, and better capitalise on investment
opportunities.

We also embarked on a major re-branding exercise, changing our tagline from ‘Forward Banking’ to ‘ASEAN For You’. Aside from being a clear statement
of our regional ambitions, this new tagline articulates CIMB Group’s capability to draw from its regional capabilities to deliver the best of ASEAN to our
customers.

CIMB Group had a solid 2011, despite global uncertainties and subdued capital market activity. We recorded our best ever financial performance with revenue
and profit before tax (“PBT”) of RM12.12 billion and RM5.20 billion, an increase of 2.1% and 12.4% respectively year on year (“Y-o-Y”). A key highlight was
the outperformance of the Group’s Malaysian consumer bank where PBT surged 86.1% Y-o-Y to RM1.33 billion, primarily driven by sharply lower credit
charges and lower overhead costs. PBT at Treasury & Investments improved 27.6% Y-o-Y to RM1.39 bilion while Corporate & Investment Banking was
33.1% lower Y-o-Y at RM751 million due to much fewer major capital market transactions relative to 2010. CIMB Niaga’s PBT declined 2.7% Y-o-Y to
RM1.53 billion due to the absence of gains arising from the sale of ex-Lippo Bank bonds which occurred in 2010. Excluding this one-off gain in 2010, CIMB
Niaga’s PBT grew 27.3% Y-0-Y, driven by strong loans and deposits growth and much improved non-interest income and lower provisions. PBT at CIMB
Thai increased 134% Y-o-Y to RM110 million although this was attributable to several one-off gains. Asset Management and Insurance PBT rose 5.7% Y-o-Y
to RM92 million.
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2011 BUSINESS PLAN AND STRATEGY (CONTINUED)

The Group’s total gross loans expanded 14.3% Y-o-Y, underpinned by a 23.4% surge in loans growth (in RM terms) at CIMB Niaga, as well as the 11.7%
increase in Malaysian consumer loans. Mortgages, credit cards and the Group’s micro credit lending grew by 14.5%, 9.0% and 78.9% respectively Y-o-Y.
Commercial banking loans were 4.5% higher Y-o-Y while hire purchase loans were unchanged. Corporate loans expanded 12.8% Y-o-Y. The Group’s overall
net interest margins eased to 3.12% from 3.34% the year before.

Total loan impairment for the Group declined by 19.8% Y-0-Y to RM487 million in 2011 compared to RM607 million in 2010. The Group’s gross impairment
ratio continued to improve to 5.1% for 2011 from 6.1% as at end-2010, with an impairment allowance coverage of 81.1%. The Group’s cost to income ratio
improved to 54.7%, compared to 55.7% the year before.

The Group met its dividend payout targets for 2011 with total 2011 dividends amounting to RM1.64 billion, or 22.0 sen per share, translating to a dividend
payout ratio of 40.6% of 2011 profits. This was split into 2 interim dividend payouts of 12.0 sen and 10.0 sen which were declared in August 2011, and
February 2012 respectively.

CIMB Bank’s risk weighted capital ratio stood at 16.8% while its Tier 1 capital ratio stood at 14.5% as at end-2011 (after inclusion of 2011 net profits and
the proposed second interim dividend). CIMB Group’s double leverage and gearing stood at 119.1% and 21.8% respectively as at end-2011.

OUTLOOK FOR 2012

CIMB Group’s corporate theme for 2012 is CIMB 2.0: Towards Vision 2015. While we are pleased with how far the Group has come, and how much it has
achieved since embarking on the journey towards regional universal banking in 2005, we are fully aware of the imperative to continuously improve our business
model to sustain the excellent momentum which we have built.

Vision 2015: to be The Leading ASEAN Franchise is a clear articulation of where we want to be. It is an ambitious goal, and we recognise that we have to
look beyond our current growth trajectory, and our present strengths and capabilities to achieve it. We need to evolve into CIMB 2.0, or CIMB Version 2.
To this end, in 2012, we will optimise our existing franchise and improve on areas such as SME banking and cross-selling. We will build new growth areas
by exploring new markets and maximising opportunities in existing ones. And we will substantiate ‘ASEAN For You’ in how we act and all that we do.

RATINGS BY EXTERNAL RATING AGENCIES

Details of the rating of the Company and its debt securities are as follows:

Rating agency Date accorded Rating classification

RAM July 2011 Long term — AA1
Short-term — P1
Qutlook — Stable

Rating classification description:

RAM has assigned respective long and short-term ratings of AA1 and P1 to the Company’s RM6.0 billion Conventional and Islamic Commercial Papers and
Medium-Term Notes Programmes. The long term rating has a stable outlook.

Rating agency Date accorded Rating classification

RAM July 2011 Long term — AA3
Outlook — Stable

Rating classification description:

RAM has assigned an AA3 to the Company’s RM3.0 billion Subordinated Notes Programme (2009/2074) with a long term stable outlook.
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SHARIAH COMMITTEE

All the Islamic banking businesses of CIMB Group come under the purview of the CIMB lIslamic Shariah Committee, which resides at CIMB Islamic Bank
Berhad (“CIMB Islamic”).

As per BNM/GPS1 (Guideline on the Governance of Shariah Committee for Islamic Financial Institutions), the Shariah Committee advises the Group on the
operations of its Islamic banking business to ensure that the Group is not involved in any elements/activities which are not permissible under Shariah. In
advising on such matters, the Shariah Committee also considers the views of the Shariah Advisory Council/Committees of relevant authorities like Bank Negara
Malaysia and the Securities Commission on issues relating to the activities and operations of Islamic banking and financing.

The members of the Shariah Committee are as follows:

Sheikh Professor Dr. Mohammad Hashim Kamali (Chairman)
Sheikh Nedham Muhammad Seleh Yagooby

Sheikh Dr. Haji Mohd Nai'm bin Haji Mokhtar

Sheikh Associate Professor Dr. Shafaai bin Musa

Sheikh Dr. Yousef Abdullah Al Shubaily

Professor Dr. Noor Inayah Yaakub (Appointed on 1 April 2011)

o oA~ N

ZAKAT OBLIGATIONS

The obligation and responsibility for payment of Zakat lies with the Muslim shareholders of the Group. For the Group’s banking and asset management
subsidiaries, the obligation and responsibility for payment of Zakat on deposits and investments lies with the Muslim depositors and investors. The aforesaid
is subject to the jurisdictional requirements on Zakat payment as may be applicable from time to time arising from local legislation, regulation, law or market
convention as the case may be. Accrual of zakat expenses (if any) in the financial statement of the Group is reflective of this.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Significant events during the financial year are disclosed in Note 46 to the Financial Statements.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR END

Subsequent events after the financial year end are disclosed in Note 47 to the Financial Statements.

AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution.

Tan Sri Dato’ Md Nor bin Md Yusof
Chairman

Dato’ Sri Mohamed Nazir bin Abdul Razak
Managing Director

Kuala Lumpur
12 March 2012
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Pursuant to Section 169(15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, Tan Sri Dato’ Md Nor bin Md Yusof and Dato’ Sri Mohamed Nazir bin Abdul Razak, being two of the Directors of CIMB Group Holdings Berhad, hereby
state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the Financial Statements set out on pages 022 to 245 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011 and of the results and cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the financial
year ended on that date, in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965, the MASB Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia for Entities
Other Than Private Entities and Bank Negara Malaysia Guidelines.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution.

Tan Sri Dato’ Md Nor bin Md Yusof
Chairman

Dato’ Sri Mohamed Nazir bin Abdul Razak
Managing Director

Kuala Lumpur
12 March 2012

Statutory Declaration

Pursuant to Section 169(16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, Kim Kenny, being the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of CIMB Group Holdings Berhad, do solemnly and sincerely declare that
the Financial Statements set out on pages 022 to 245 are, in my opinion, correct and | make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to
be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

Kim Kenny

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed Kim Kenny at Kuala Lumpur before me, on 12 March 2012.

Commissioner for Oath
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to the members of CIMB Group Holdings Berhad
Company No: 50841-W (Incorporated in Malaysia)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the Financial Statements of CIMB Group Holdings Berhad on pages 022 to 245, which comprise the statements of financial position as at
31 December 2011 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on
Notes 1 to 55.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the Companies
Act, 1965, MASB Approved Accounting Standards in Malaysia for Entities Other Than Private Entities and Bank Negara Malaysia Guidelines, and for such
internal control as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Financial Statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards
on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the Financial Statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the Financial Statements. The procedures selected
depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material misstatement of the Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of Financial Statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Financial Statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Financial Statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with the Companies Act, 1965, MASB Approved Accounting Standards
in Malaysia for Entities Other Than Private Entities and Bank Negara Malaysia Guidelines so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the Company as of 31 December 2011 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965, in Malaysia, we also report the following:
(@ In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company and its subsidiaries of which we

have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

(b) We have considered the Financial Statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted as auditors, which are indicated
in Note 12 to the Financial Statements.

(c) We are satisfied that the Financial Statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s Financial Statements are in form and
content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the Financial Statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory
information and explanations required by us for those purposes.

(d) The audit reports on the Financial Statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment made under Section 174(3)
of the Act.
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OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out in Note 56 on page 245 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad and is not part of
the Financial Statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter
No. 1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion,
the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Mohammad Faiz bin Mohammad Azmi
(No. AF: 1146) (No. 2025/03/12 (J))
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
12 March 2012
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Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2011

CIMB GROUP HOLDINGS BERHAD

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Assets

Cash and short-term funds 2 34,668,845 27,185,260
Reverse repurchase agreements 4,230,482 3,804,662
Deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions 3 4,174,012 11,745,823
Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss 4 13,665,700 17,082,596
Derivative financial instruments 7 4,274,073 3,577,155
Financial investments available-for-sale 5 13,773,219 11,658,702
Financial investments held-to-maturity 6 16,918,784 14,120,263
Loans, advances and financing 8 183,838,777 159,181,385
Other assets 9 6,518,355 7,353,522
Deferred tax assets 10 49,998 15,269
Tax recoverable 139,258 98,358
Statutory deposits with central banks 11 5,084,105 1,410,436
Investment in associates 13 1,169,387 508,807
Investment in jointly controlled entities 14 188,479 171,486
Property, plant and equipment 15 1,458,400 1,442,948
Investment properties 16 8,653 61,216
Prepaid lease payments 17 170,564 185,542
Goodwill 18 8,242,489 8,151,432
Intangible assets 19 1,611,879 1,551,332
300,185,459 269,306,194
Non-current assets held for sale 51 17,248 59,050
Total assets 300,202,707 269,365,244

Liabilities
Deposits from customers 20 221,933,142 199,845,664
Deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions 21 12,964,309 13,092,157
Repurchase agreements 1,067,946 33,087
Derivative financial instruments 7 4,217,291 3,748,516
Bills and acceptances payable 7,566,691 4,532,446
Other liabilities 22 6,827,810 8,624,668
Deferred tax liabilities 10 134,285 12,124
Current tax liabilities 483,820 322,789
Amount due to Cagamas Berhad - 107,523
Bonds 24 521,225 423,982
Other borrowings 25 5,324,032 3,783,587
Subordinated notes 26 11,417,980 9,675,340
Non-cumulative guaranteed and redeemable preference shares 28(a), 28(b) 881,016 860,162
Total liabilities 273,339,547 245,062,045
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2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Parent
Ordinary share capital 27 7,432,775 7,432,775
Reserves 29 18,504,288 15,797,775
Less: Shares held under trust 30(a) (563) (563)
Treasury shares, at cost 30(b) (30) 21)
25,936,470 23,229,966
Perpetual preference shares 28(c) 200,000 200,000
Non-controlling interests 726,690 873,233
Total equity 26,863,160 24,303,199
Total equity and liabilities 300,202,707 269,365,244
Commitments and contingencies 7 414,197,407 349,069,257
Net assets per share attributable to owners of the Parent (RM) 3.49 3.13
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2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Interest income 31 12,681,512 11,168,858
Interest expense 32 (6,005,261) (4,564,083)
Net interest income 6,676,251 6,604,775
Income from Islamic banking operations 54 1,470,321 1,330,036
Net non-interest income 33 3,975,457 3,943,392
12,122,029 11,878,203
Overheads 34 (6,629,912) (6,613,304)
Profit before allowances 5,492,117 5,264,899
Allowance made for impairment losses on loans, advances and financing 35 (487,343) (607,176)
Allowance made for impairment losses on other receivables (8,908) (8,085)
Allowance written back/(made) for commitments and contingencies 22 55,435 (20,900)
Recoveries/(losses) from investment management and securities services 15,000 (50,000)
Allowance made for other impairment losses 36 (14,190) (48,189)
5,052,111 4,530,549
Share of results of jointly controlled entities 14 16,993 9,548
Share of results of associates 13 134,038 86,620
Profit before taxation 5,203,142 4,626,717
Taxation
— Company and subsidiaries 38 (1,128,816) (956,830)
Net profit after taxation 4,074,326 3,669,887

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Parent 4,030,798 3,500,803
Non-controlling interests 43,528 169,084
4,074,326 3,669,887

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Parent (sen)
— Basic 39 54.2 48.7
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for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

RM’000 RM’000

Net profit after taxation 4,074,326 3,669,887

Other comprehensive income:

Revaluation reserve-financial investments available-for-sale 39,348 (289,426)
— Net gain from change in fair value 287,091 421,912
— Realised gain transferred to statement of income on disposal and impairment (271,725) (716,693)
- Income tax effects 22,800 18,449
— Currency translation difference 1,182 (13,094)

Net investment hedge (46,887) 253,643

Hedging reserve — cash flow hedge 226 -
— Net gain from change in fair value 226 -

Exchange fluctuation reserve 178,309 (721,438)

Share of other comprehensive income of associate 25,041 -

Other comprehensive income/(expense) during the financial year, net of tax 196,037 (757,221)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 4,270,363 2,912,666
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2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Assets
Cash and short-term funds 2 316,828 529,826
Derivative financial instruments 7 17,459 5,676
Loans, advances and financing 8 930 1,147
Other assets 9 23,184 9,897
Tax recoverable 93,288 55,383
Investment in subsidiaries 12 17,887,961 16,093,491
Amount owing by subsidiaries net of allowance for doubtful debts of RM775,423 (2010: RM805,285) 41 4,811 19,267
Investment in associates 13 3,834 3,834
Property, plant and equipment 15 31,607 32,471
Investment properties 16 527 3,516
Total assets 18,380,429 16,754,508
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 7 4,164 9,363
Other liabilities 22 3,242 1,515
Amount owing to subsidiaries 41 - 147
Deferred tax liabilities 10 2,122 3,988
Other borrowings 25 3,266,052 1,664,348
Subordinated notes 26 2,141,655 2,130,000
Total liabilities 5,417,235 3,809,361
Equity
Ordinary share capital 27 7,432,775 7,432,775
Reserves 29 5,530,449 5,512,393
Less: Treasury shares, at cost 30(b) (30) 21)
Total equity 12,963,194 12,945,147
Total equity and liabilities 18,380,429 16,754,508

Commitments and contingencies 7 965,000 465,000
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Company Statements of Income

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

RM’000 RM’000

Interest income 31 8,573 29,040
Interest expense 32 (235,444) (190,166)
Net interest expense (226,871) (161,126)
Net non-interest income 33 2,247,140 1,728,825
2,020,269 1,567,699

Overheads 34 (15,115) (15,100)
Profit before taxation 2,005,154 1,652,599
Taxation 38 (500,543) (292,295)
Net profit after taxation 1,504,611 1,260,304

Company Statements of Comprehensive Income

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

RM’000 RM’000

Net profit after taxation 1,504,611 1,260,304
Other comprehensive income:

Hedging reserve — cash flow hedge - 12,573

— Net gain from change in fair value - 17,833

— Income tax effects - (5,260)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - 12,573

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,504,611 1,272,877
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

Attributable to owners of the Parent

Share
capital

Note RM’000

The Group

At 1 January 2011

Share
premium-
ordinary
shares
RM'000

Statutory
reserve
RM'000

Capital
reserve
RM000

Exchange
fluctuation
reserve
RM’000

Shares
held under
trust
RM'000

Treasury
shares
RM'000

Revaluation
reserve-
financial

investments

available-
for-sale
RM'000

Other
reserves
RM'000

Share-
based
payment
reserve
RM'000

Regulatory
reserve
RM'000

Retained
earnings
RM'000

Perpetual
EEE
shares
RM000

Non-
controlling
interests
RM’000

- as previously reported 7432775 4192596 3935308 136,954  (347,337) (563) (1) 474678 131,736 - 17595 7156250 23229966 200,000 873,233 24,303,199
- Effects of adopting
Amendment to FRS 2 52(i) - - - - - - - - - 318,01 - (318,071) - - - -
As restated 7432775 4192596 3935308 136,954  (347,337) (563) (1) 474673 131,736 318071 117,505 6,838,179 23229966 200,000 873,233 24,303,199
Proft for the financial year - - - - - - - - - - - 4,030,798 4,030,798 - 43528 4,074,326
Other comprehensive
income (net of tax) - - 4] - 174,664 - - 61,080 (46,254 409 - - 189,905 - 6,132 196,037
Financial investments
avallable-for-sale - - - - - - - 36,048 - - - - 36,048 - 3,300 39,348
Net investment hedge - - - - - - - - (46,480) - - - (46,480) - (407)  (46,887)
- hedging reserve -
cash flow hedge - - - - - - - - 226 - - - 226 - - 226
Currency translation
difference - - &) - 174,664 - - - - 409 - - 175,070 - 3,289 178,309
Share of other
comprehensive income
of associate - - - - - - - 25,041 - - - - 25,041 - - 25,041
Total comprehensive
income for the financial
year - - @) - 174,664 - - 61,089 (46,254) 409 - 4,030,798 4,220,703 - 49,660 4,270,363
Dividend for the financil
year ended 31 December
2010 40 - - - - - - - - - - - (594,622)  (594,622) - - (594,622)
Dividend for the financial
year ended 31 December
2011 40 - - - - - - - - - - - (891,933 (891,933 - - (891,939)
Net-controling interest
share of dividend - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (11,250 (11,250
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 168,286 - - - - - - - - (168,286) - - - -
Transfer to regulatory reserve - - - - - - - - - - 313032 (373,032 - - - -
Avising from reorganisation
of investment in
subsicliaries and deemed
disposal of subsidlaries - - - - - - - - - - - (15953  (15953) - (185,592  (201,545)
Issue of share capital
arising from:
- Bonus issue and
capital repayment of
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (1,796) (1,796) - (9,110)  (10,906)
Issue of capital funds - - - 150 - - - - - - - - 150 - - 150
Rights issue of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (500) (500) - 9,749 9,249
Purchase of treasury shares 30(0) - - - - - - ) - - - - - ©) - - 9
Share-based payment
expense - - - - - - - - - 76,281 - - 76,281 - - 76,281
Shares released under
Equity Ownership Plan - - - - - - - - - (20429 - - (20429 - - (20429
Purchase of shares in
relation to Equity
Ownership Plan - - - - - - - - (65389) - - - (65389) - - (65389)
At 31 December 2011 7432775 4192596 4103591 137,104 (172,673 (563) (30) 535,762 20004 374332 490,627 8,822,855 25936470 200,000 726,690 26,863,160
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The Group
At 1 January 2010

Note

Share
capital
RM’000

Share
premium-
ordinary
shares
RM'000

Statutory
reserve
RM'000

Capital
reserve
RM000

fluctuation

029 |

Attributable to owners of the Parent ——————————»

Shares
held under
trust
RM'000

Exchange

reserve
RM000

Revaluation
reserve-
financial

investments

available-
for-sale
RM'000

Treasury
shares
RM'000

Other
reserves
RM’000

Share-
based

payment Regulatory

reserve
RM'000

reserve
RM'000

Retained
earnings
RM'000

Annual Report 2011
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Perpetual
EEE
shares
RM000

Non-
controlling
interests
RM’000

- as previously reported 3531,766 5,586,751 3415780 136954 361,780 (663) - 766500 (64,380) - - 6265787 20000369 200,000 2,079,035 22279404
- Effects of adopting
Amendment to FRS 2 52(i) - - - - - - - - - 298,038 - (298,039 - - - -

As restated 3,531,766 5586751 3415780 136954 361,780 (563) - 766500 (64386) 298,038 - 597,749 20000369 200000 2,079,035 22,279,404
Proft for the financial year - - - - - - - - - - - 3500803 3500803 - 169,084 3,669,887
Other comprehensive

income (net of tax) - - - - (709,117) - - (e 253782 - - - (14719 - (10029 (757,221)
Financial investments

avallable-for-sale - - - - - - - (291827) - - - - (291827) - 2401 (289,426)
Net investment hedge - - - - - - - - 253782 - - - 253782 - (109) 253,643
Currency translation

difference - - - - (709,117) - - - - - - - (709,117) - (1% (1214%)
Total comprehensive

income for the financial

year - - - - (709,117) - - (291827 258752 - - 3500803 2753611 - 15905 2,912,666
Dividend for the financial

year ended 31 December

2009 40 - - - - - - - - - - - (653376)  (653,376) - - (653,376)
Dividends for the financial

year ended 31 December

2010

- Interim dividend 40 - - - - - - - - - - - (339,083 (339,083 - - (339,083

- Special dividend 40 - - - - - - - - - - - (999,708)  (999,708) - - (999,708)
Non-controlling interest

share of dividend - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (4,325) 4329)
Transfer to statutory reserve - - 519528 - - - - - - - - (619,528 - - - -
Transfer to regulatory

reserve - - - - - - - - - - 1175%  (117,59) - - - -
Issue of share capital

arising from: 27
- Bonus shares 3,531,764 (3,531,764) - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
- Share exchange for

acquisition of a subsicliary 268,000 1,675,000 - - - - - - - - - 1,943,000 - - 1,943,000

- Bxercise of warrants 101,245 462,609 - - - - - - (B7,630) - - - 506224 - - 506224
Avising from accretion/

dilution of equity interests

in subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (1,083 (1,083 - (1,361,067) (1,362,150)
Rights issue of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 20,636 20,53
Capital repayment of

subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - - - - (200000 (20,00
Purchase of treasury shares 30(0) - - - - - - (21) - - - - - 21) - - (21)
Share-based payment

expense - - - - - - - - - 20,033 - - 20,033 - - 20,083
At 31 December 2010 TARTTS 4192506 3935308 136954 (347.337) (663) (1) 474673 131736 318071 117,595 6838179 23229966 200000 873233 24,303,199
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Company Statements of Changes in Equity

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The Company

Share
capital

Note RM’000

Non-distributable

Capital

Share redemption

premium
RM’000

reserve
RM’000

Other
reserve
RM’000

Treasury
shares
RM’000

Hedging
reserve
RM’000

Distributable

Retained
earnings
RM’000

CIMB GROUP HOLDINGS BERHAD

Total
RM’000

At 1 January 2011 7,432,775 4,192,596 55,982 (21) - - 1,263,815 12,945,147
Profit for the financial year - - - - - - 1,504,611 1,504,611
Total comprehensive income

for the financial year - - - - - - 1,504,611 1,504,611
Dividends for the financial year

ended 31 December 2010 40 - - - - - - (594,622) (594,622)
Dividends for the financial year

ended 31 December 2011 40 - - - - - - (891,933) (891,933)
Purchase of treasury shares 30(b) - - - 9) - - - 9)
At 31 December 2011 7,432,775 4,192,596 55,982 (30) - - 1,281,871 12,963,194
At 1 January 2010 3,531,766 5,586,751 55,982 - 57,630 (12,573) 1,995,678 11,215,234
Profit for the financial year - - - - - - 1,260,304 1,260,304
Other comprehensive income

(net of tax) - - - - - 12,573 - 12,573
Hedging reserve — cash flow hedge - - - - - 12,573 - 12,573
Total comprehensive income

for the financial year - - - - - 12,573 1,260,304 1,272,877
Dividend for the financial year

ended 31 December 2009 40 - - - - - - (653,376) (653,376)
Dividends for the financal year

ended 31 December 2010

— Interim dividend 40 - - - - - - (839,083) (839,083)

— Special dividend 40 - - - - - - (999,708) (999,708)
Issue of share capital arising from: 27

— exercise of warrants 101,245 462,609 - - (57,630) - - 506,224

— bonus shares 3,631,764  (3,531,764) - - - - - -

— share exchange of acquisition

of a subsidiary 268,000 1,675,000 - - - - - 1,943,000

Purchase of treasury shares 30(b) - - - 21) - - - 21)
At 31 December 2010 7,432,775 4,192,596 55,982 (21) - - 1,263,815 12,945,147
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

Operating Activities

2011

RM’000

2010
RM’000

Profit before taxation 5,203,142 4,626,717
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 332,205 345,395
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 14,910 60,483
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment/assets held for sale (16,194) (170,669)
Gain on disposal of leased assets (99) (511)
Property, plant and equipment written off - 200
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange (312,741) (600,917)
Dividends from financial investments available-for-sale (40,780) (42,408)
Dividends from financial investments held-to-maturity - (77)
Allowance for losses on loans, advances and financing 900,815 1,004,159
Gain on sale of financial investments available-for-sale (329,432) (707,041)
(Gain)/loss on sale of financial assets held for trading and derivative financial instruments (222,902) 96,918
Net loss arising from hedging derivatives 16,284 60,234
Gain on maturity of financial investments held-to-maturity (76,864) (104,278)
Allowance for impairment losses 14,190 48,189
Accretion of discounts less amortisation of premiums (168,068) (192,662)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 824
Amortisation of intangible assets 242,179 271,508
Revaluation of financial investments available-for-sale 9,666 (17,958)
Gain on revaluation of investment properties (1,842) (8,632)
Gain on deemed disposal/disposal of net assets and interest in subsidiaries (250,000) (27,218)
Loss on disposal of foreclosed properties 19,942 -
Share of results of associates (134,038) (86,620)
Unrealised loss on revaluation of financial assets held for trading 36,621 32,876
Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaluation of derivative financial instruments (349,416) 21,194
Allowance for other receivables 8,908 8,085
Allowance (written back)/made for commitments and contingencies (55,435) 20,900
(Recoveries)/losses from investment management and securities services (15,000) 50,000
Loss from fair value hedge of Redeemable Preference Shares (“RPS”) 9,313 99,331
MES expenses 23,718 20,033
Share-based payment expense 52,563 -
Share of results of jointly controlled entities (16,993) (9,548)
(308,490) 171,790
4,894,652 4,798,507
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets
Reverse repurchase agreements (425,820) 740,211
Deposits and placements with banks and other financial institutions 7,571,811 (9,382,663)
Financial assets held for trading 3,064,657 (2,043,979)
Loans, advances and financing (25,640,381) (20,516,040)
Other assets 720,506 698,446
Derivative financial instruments 643,509 105,296
Statutory deposits with central banks (3,673,669) (566,679)
(17,739,387) (30,965,408)
Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities
Deposits from customers 22,087,478 20,963,328
Deposits and placements of banks and other financial institutions (127,848) 2,960,575
Repurchase agreements 1,034,859 (632,010)
Amount due to Cagamas Berhad (107,523) (228,089)
Bills and acceptances payable 3,034,245 336,572
Other liabilities (1,781,858) 352,816
24,139,353 23,853,192
Cash flows generated from/(used in) operations 11,294,618 (2,313,709)
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Taxation paid (927,431) (703,134)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) operating activities 10,367,187 (3,016,843)
Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 79,650 611,932
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid lease payments - 4,828
Dividends received from financial investments available-for-sale 40,780 42,408
Dividends received from financial investments held-to-maturity - 7
Net (purchase)/proceeds of financial investments available-for-sale (1,733,637) 46,502
Net (purchase)/proceeds of financial investments held-to-maturity (2,551,865) 443,704
Net cash inflow from acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries 640 235,255
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (454,291) (348,392)
Disposal of intangible assets 1,903 18,295
Purchase of intangible assets (308,056) (168,250)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (4,924,876) 886,359
Financing Activities
Dividends paid to shareholders (1,497,805) (1,996,492)
Redemption of bonds (423,982) -
Exercise of warrants - 506,224
Net proceeds from Subordinated Notes 2,128,242 3,332,602
Proceeds from bonds 521,225 -
Redemption of USD200 million Subordinated Notes (635,200) -
Proceeds/(repayments) from term loan facility 1,000,658 (92,838)
(Repayments)/proceeds from revolving credit and overdraft (63,018) 523,158
Net repayment of commercial papers and medium term notes 604,264 -
Purchase of treasury shares 9) 21)
Repayment of redeemable preference shares (13,696) -
Net repayment of USD100 million syndicated term loan - (34,150)
Net cash flows generated from financing activities 1,620,679 2,238,483
Net increase in cash and short-term funds during the financial year 7,062,990 107,999
Effects of exchange rate changes 420,595 (1,197,426)
Cash and short-term funds at beginning of the financial year 27,185,260 28,274,687
Cash and short-term funds at end of the financial year 2 34,668,845 27,185,260
Statutory deposits with Bank Indonesia* (3,887,585) (2,985,829)
Monies held in trust (384,083) (829,070)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 30,397,177 23,870,361

*

This represent non-interest bearing statutory deposits of a foreign subsidiary maintained with Bank Indonesia in compliance with their applicable legislation
of RM3,887,585,000 (2010: RM2,985,829,000), which is not readily available for use by the Group.
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Company Statements of Cash Flows

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

RM’000 RM’000

Operating Activities

Profit before taxation 2,005,154 1,652,599
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,365 2,136
Depreciation of investment properties 110 125
Impairment of investment properties - 824
Written off of property, plant and equipment 68 -
Gain on disposal of investment properties (1,670) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment/asset held for sale - 171
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign exchange 9,073 (6,5695)
Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaluation of derivative financial instruments (18,386) 13,264
Net loss arising from hedging derivatives 194 -
Dividends from subsidiaries (2,240,314) (1,741,815)
Dividend from an associate (700) (1,534)
Interest expense on commercial papers 8,762 2,618
Accretion of discounts less amortisation of premiums (583) (3,200)
(2,241,081) (1,733,976)
(235,927) (181,377)
(Increase)/decrease in operating assets
Loans, advances and financing 217 344
Other assets (12,299) (7,052)
(12,082) (6,708)
(Decrease)/increase in operating liabilities
Other liabilities 7,280 (629,307)
7,280 (629,307)
Cash flows used in operations (240,729) (817,392)
Net taxation refund 17,440 76,071
Net cash flows used in operating activities (223,289) (741,321)
Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment - 446
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 4,550 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,204) (2,298)
(Advances to)/repayment from subsidiaries 14,456 (851)
Dividends from subsidiaries 1,682,735 1,400,756
Dividend from an associate 525 1,150
Acquisition of additional interest in subsidiary (1,794,470) -

Net cash flows generated from investing activities (94,408) 1,399,203
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Company Statements of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010

RM’000 RM’000

Financing Activities

Dividends paid to shareholders (1,486,555) (1,992,167)
Proceeds from syndicated term loan - 315,000
Repayment of syndicated term loan - (842,500)
Proceeds from term loan facility 1,000,000 -
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated notes - 750,000
Proceeds from commercial papers and medium term notes 1,490,995 347,382
Purchase of treasury shares 9) 21)
Repayment of commercial papers and medium term notes (900,000) (350,000)
Exercise of warrants - 506,224
Net cash flows used in financing activities 104,431 (766,082)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents during the financial year (213,266) (108,200)
Effects of exchange rate changes 268 85
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the financial year 529,826 637,941

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial year 2 316,828 529,826
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Summary of Significant Group Accounting Policies

for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items that are considered material in relation to the Financial Statements.

A

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Financial Statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standards, MASB Approved
Accounting Standards in Malaysia for Entities Other Than Private Entities, Bank Negara Malaysia (“BNM”) Guidelines, Shariah requirements and the
provisions of the Companies Act, 1965.

The Financial Statements have been prepared under historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation financial investments available-for-sale,
financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivatives financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.

The Financial Statements incorporate those activities relating to Islamic banking which have been undertaken by the Group. Islamic banking refers
generally to the acceptance of deposits, granting of financing and dealing in Islamic Securities under the Shariah principles.

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with Financial Reporting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Financial
Statements, and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reported period. It also requires the Directors to exercise their judgement in
the process of applying the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based on the Directors’ best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the Financial Statements,
are disclosed in Note 50.

(@) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective and applicable to the Group and the Company
The new accounting standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective for the Group and the Company for the
financial year beginning 1 January 2011 are as follows:

e Revised FRS 1 “First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards”

e Revised FRS 3 “Business Combination”

e Revised FRS 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”

e  Amendment to FRS 2 “Share-based Payment — Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions”
e  Amendment to FRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures-Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments”
e Amendment to FRS 1 “First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards”

e Amendments to FRS 132 “Financial instruments: Presentation-Classification of Rights Issue”

e |C Interpretation 4 “Determining Whether an Arrangement contains a Lease”

e |C Interpretation 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”

e |C Interpretation 17 “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners”

e |C Interpretation 18 “Transfer of Assets from Customers”

e TR i-4 “Shariah Compliant Sale Contract”

e Improvements to FRSs (2010)

A summary of the impact of new accounting standards, amendments and improvements to published standards and interpretations on the financial
statements of the Group and the Company is set out in Note 52.
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Summary of Significant Group Accounting Policies
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are applicable to the Group and the
Company but not yet effective
In November 2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board formally announced that Malaysian reporting entities would be required to comply
with the new IFRS-compliant framework, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS) for financial years commencing on or after 1 January
2012. MFRS 1 “First-time adoption of MFRS” provides for certain optional exemptions and certain mandatory exceptions for first-time MFRS
adopters.

The Group will be required to adopt the new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations in the period set out below and comparative
financial information prepared in compliance with MFRS will be required for the year commencing 1 January 2010:

()  Financial year beginning on/after 1 January 2012

MFRS 139 “Financial instruments: recognition and measurement” - Bank Negara Malaysia has removed the transitional provision for banking
institutions on loan impairment assessment and provisioning to comply with the MFRS 139 requirements.

The revised MFRS 124 “Related party disclosures” (effective from 1 January 2012) removes the exemption to disclose transactions between
government-related entities and the government, and all other government-related entities. The following new disclosures are now required
for government related entities:

— The name of the government and the nature of their relationship;
— The nature and amount of each individually significant transactions; and
— The extent of any collectively significant transactions, qualitatively or quantitatively.

Amendment to MFRS 112 “Income taxes” (effective from 1 January 2012) introduces an exception to the existing principle for the
measurement of deferred tax assets or liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value. MFRS 112 currently requires an
entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending on whether the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset
through use or sale. It can be difficult and subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is
measured using the fair value model in MFRS 140 “Investment property”. As a result of the amendments, IC Interpretation 121 “Income
taxes - recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets” will no longer apply to investment properties carried at fair value. The amendments
also incorporate into MFRS 112 the remaining guidance previously contained in IC Interpretation 121 which is withdrawn.

IC Interpretation 19 “Extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments” (effective from 1 July 2011) provides clarification when an entity
renegotiates the terms of a financial liability with its creditor and the creditor agrees to accept the entity’s shares or other equity instruments
to settle the financial liability fully or partially. A gain or loss, being the difference between the carrying value of the financial liability and the
fair value of the equity instruments issued, shall be recognised in profit or loss. Entities are no longer permitted to reclassify the carrying
value of the existing financial liability into equity with no gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.

Amendments to IC Interpretation 14 “MFRS 119 - The limit on a defined benefit assets, minimum funding requirements and their interaction”
(effective from 1 July 2011) permits an entity to recognise the prepayments of contributions as an asset, rather than an expense in
circumstances when the entity is subject to a minimum funding requirement and makes an early payment of contributions to meet those
requirements.

Amendment to MFRS 101 “Presentation of items of other comprehensive income” (effective from 1 January 2012) requires entities to
separate items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) in the statement of comprehensive income into two groups, based on
whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. The amendments do not address which items are presented in OCI.

Amendment to MFRS 1 “First time adoption on fixed dates and hyperinflation” (effective from 1 January 2012) includes two changes to
MFRS 1. The first replaces references to a fixed date of 1 January 2004 with ‘the date if transition to MFRSs’, thus eliminating the need
for entities adopting MFRSs for the first time to restate de-recognition transactions that occurred before the date of transition to MFRSs.
The second amendment provides guidance on how an entity should resume presenting financial statements in accordance with MFRSs
after a period when the entity was unable to comply with MFRSs because its functional currency was subject to severe hyperinflation.
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A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are applicable to the Group and the
Company but not yet effective (Continued)
()  Financial year beginning on/after 1 January 2012 (continued)

Amendments to MFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures on transfers of financial assets” (effective from 1 January 2012) promotes
transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users’ understanding of the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial
assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position, particularly those living securitisation of financial assets.

The adoption of the new standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
financial effect of the Group and the Company.

(i)  Financial year beginning on/after 1 January 2013

MFRS 9 “Financial instruments - classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities” (effective from 1 January 2015)
replaces the multiple classification and measurement models in MFRS 139 with a single model that has only two classification categories:
amortised cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The accounting and presentation for financial liabilities and for de-recognising financial instruments has been relocated from MFRS 139,
without change, except for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). Entities with financial liabilities
designated at FVTPL recognise changes in the fair value due to changes in the liability’s credit risk directly in other comprehensive income
(OCI). There is no subsequent recycling of the amounts in OCI to profit or loss, but accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within
equity.

The guidance in MFRS 139 on impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting continues to apply.

MFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements” (effective from 1 January 2013) changes the definition of control. An investor controls an
investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee. It establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements and sets out the accounting requirements for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. It
replaces all the guidance on control and consolidation in MFRS 127 “Consolidated and separate financial statements” and IC Interpretation
112 “Consolidation — special purpose entities”.

MFRS 11 “Joint arrangements” (effective from 1 January 2013) requires a party to a joint arrangement to determine the type of joint
arrangement in which it is involved by assessing its rights and obligations arising from the arrangement, rather than its legal form. There
are two types of joint arrangement: joint operations and joint ventures. Joint operations arise where a joint operator has rights to the assets
and obligations relating to the arrangement and hence accounts for its interest in assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. Joint ventures
arise where the joint operator has rights to the net assets of the arrangement and hence equity accounts for its interest. Proportional
consolidation of joint ventures is no longer allowed.

MFRS 12 “Disclosures of interests in other entities” (effective from 1 January 2013) sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting
under the two new standards, MFRS 10 and MFRS 11, and replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in MFRS 128 “Investments
in associates”. It requires entities to disclose information that helps financial statement readers to evaluate the nature, risks and financial
effects associated with the entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.

MFRS 13 “Fair value measurement” (effective from 1 January 2013) aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a
precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across MFRSs. The
requirements do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its use is already
required or permitted by other standards. The enhanced disclosure requirements are similar to those in MFRS 7 “Financial instruments:
Disclosures”, but apply to all assets and liabilities measured at fair value, not just financial ones.
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A BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are applicable to the Group and the
Company but not yet effective (Continued)
(i)  Financial year beginning on/after 1 January 2013 (continued)

e The revised MFRS 127 “Separate financial statements” (effective from 1 January 2013) includes the provisions on separate financial
statements that are left after the control provisions of MFRS 127 have been included in the new MFRS 10.

e The revised MFRS 128 “Investments in associates and joint ventures” (effective from 1 January 2013) includes the requirements for joint
ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounted following the issue of MFRS 11.

e Amendment to MFRS 119 “Employee benefits” (effective from 1 January 2013) makes significant changes to the recognition and
measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination benefits, and to the disclosures for all employee benefits. Actuarial gains
and losses will no longer be deferred using the corridor approach. MFRS 119 shall be withdrawn on application of this amendment.

The Group has not finalised the financial impact of the change to MFRS and is expected to complete the process by the 2012 first quarter
announcement.

B ECONOMIC ENTITIES IN THE GROUP

(@) Subsidiaries
The Company treats as subsidiaries, those corporations, partnerships or other entities (including special purpose entities) in which the Company has
the power to exercise control over the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities, generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another entity.

Even if there is no shareholder relationship, special purpose entities (“SPEs”) are consolidated in accordance with IC Interpretation 112 (“Consolidation:
Special Purpose Entities”), if the Group controls them from an economic perspective.

When assessing whether the Group controls a SPE, in addition to the criteria in FRS 127, it evaluates a range of factors, including whether:

(@ the activities of the SPE are being conducted on the Group’s behalf according to its specific business needs so that the Group obtains the

benefits from the SPE’s operations;

(b) the Group has the decision-making power to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE, or the Group has delegated these
decision-making power by setting up an ‘autopilot’” mechanism, or

(c) the Group has the rights to obtain the majority of the benefits of the activities of the SPE and therefore may be exposed to risks incident to
the activities of the SPE; or

(d) the Group retains the majority of the residual or ownership risks related to the SPE or its assets in order to obtain the benefits from its
activities.

The consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up to the end of the financial
year.
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B

ECONOMIC ENTITIES IN THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired except for certain business combinations which were accounted for using the predecessor basis of accounting as follows:

e subsidiaries that were consolidated prior to 1 April 2002 in accordance with Malaysian Accounting Standard 2 “Accounting for Acquisitions and
Mergers”, the generally accepted accounting principles prevailing at that time,

e business combinations consolidated on/after 1 April 2002 but with agreement dates before 1 January 2006 that meet the conditions of a merger
as set out in MASB 21 “Business Combinations”,

e internal group reorganisations, as defined in MASB 21, consolidated on/after 1 April 2002 but with agreement dates before 1 January 2006
where:

— the ultimate shareholders remain the same, and the rights of each such shareholder, relative to the others, are unchanged; and

— the minorities’ share of net assets of the Group is not altered by the transfer
e combinations involving entities or businesses under common control with agreement dates on/after 1 January 2006

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provision provided by MASB 21, FRS 3 and FRS 3 (revised) to apply these Standards
prospectively. Accordingly, business combinations entered into prior to the respective effective dates have not been restated to comply with these
Standards.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the consideration transferred for an acquisition is measured as the acquisition date fair value of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interest issued. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in the business combination are measured initially at their fair value on the date of acquisition.

In business combination achieved in stages, previously held equity interest in acquire are re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any
corresponding gain or loss is recognised in statement of income.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in
acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in note L. In instances where the latter amount
exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in statement of income on the acquisition date.

Non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the
Group measures any non-controlling interest in the acquire either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. At the end of reporting period, non-controlling interest consists of amount calculated on the date of combinations and its
share of changes in the subsidiary’s equity since the date of combination.

All earnings and losses of the subsidiary are attributed to the parent and the non-controlling interest, even if the attribution of losses to the non-
controlling interest results in a debit balance in the shareholders’ equity. Profit or loss attribution to non-controlling interests for prior years is not
restated.
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ECONOMIC ENTITIES IN THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Under the predecessor basis of accounting, the results of subsidiaries are presented as if the business combination had been effected throughout
the current and previous years. The assets and liabilities combined are accounted for based on the carrying amounts from the perspective of the
common control shareholder at the date of transfer. On consolidation, the cost of the business combination is cancelled with the values of the
shares received. Any resulting credit difference is classified as equity. Any resulting debit difference is adjusted against merger reserves. Any share
premium, capital redemption reserve and any other reserves which are attributable to share capital of the combined entities, to the extent that they
have not been capitalised by a debit difference, are reclassified and presented as movement in other capital reserves.

All material transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated and the consolidated Financial Statements reflect external
transactions only. Where necessary, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

The gain or loss on disposal of a subsidiary is the difference between net disposal proceeds and the Group’s share of its net assets as at the date
of disposal including the cumulative amount of any exchange differences that related to the subsidiary required in statement of income attributable

to the parent.

Change in accounting policy

The Group changed its accounting policy on business combinations and accounting for non-controlling interest when it adopted the revised FRS 3
“Business Combinations” and revised FRS 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”.

Previously, contingent consideration in a business combination was recognised when it is probable that payment will be made. Acquisition-related
costs were included as part of the cost of business combination. Any non-controlling interest in the acquire was measure at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Any adjustments to the fair values of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities relating to previously held interests of the Group was accounted for as a revaluation.

The Group has applied the new policies prospectively to transactions occurring on or after 1 January 2011. As a consequence, no adjustments
were necessary to any of the amounts previously recognised in the financial statements.

Previously, the Group had stopped attributing losses to the non-controlling interest because the losses exceeded the carrying amount of the non-
controlling interest. The Group has applied this policy prospectively. On the date of adoption of the new policy, the non-controlling interest reflects
its previous carrying amount (that is, zero).

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases
from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of net assets of the
subsidiary acquired is deducted from equity. For disposals to non-controlling interests, differences between any proceeds received and the relevant
share of non-controlling interest are also recognised in equity. The Group has applied this policy prospectively to transactions occurring on or after
1 January 2011.

Change in accounting policy

Previously, the Group applied a policy of treating transactions with non-controlling interest as transactions with parties external to the Group.
Accordingly, disposals resulted in gains or losses to the statement of income and purchases resulted in the recognition of goodwill, being the
difference between consideration paid and the relevant share of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary acquired.
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ECONOMIC ENTITIES IN THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Jointly controlled entities
The Group treats as a jointly controlled entity, corporations, partnerships or other entities over which there is contractually agreed sharing of control
by the Group with one or more parties where the strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the entities require unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group’s interest in jointly controlled entities is accounted for in the consolidated Financial Statements by the equity method of accounting.

Equity accounting involves recognising the Group’s share of the post acquisition results of the jointly controlled entities in the statements of
comprehensive income and its share of post acquisition movements within reserves in reserves. The cumulative post acquisition movements are
adjusted against the cost of the investment and include goodwill on acquisition, net of accumulated impairment loss (if any).

Associates

The Group treats as associates, corporations, partnerships or other entities in which the Group exercises significant influence, but which it does not
control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the associates but not the power to exercise control over those policies. The Group’s investment in
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.

Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated Financial Statements by the equity method of accounting.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the statement of incomes, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The interest in an associate is the carrying amount of the investment in the associate under the equity method together with any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate. After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional losses are
provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the investor has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share
of the profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associates;
unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence on impairment of the asset transferred.

Changes in ownership interest

When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value with
the change in carrying amount recognised in statement of income. This fair value is its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset in
accordance with FRS 139. Any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Change in accounting policy

The Group has changed its accounting policy prospectively for transactions occurring on or after 1 January 2011 with non-controlling interests and
transactions involving the loss of control, joint control or significant influence when it early adopted the revised FRS 127 “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements”. The revisions to FRS 127 contained consequential amendments to FRS 128 “Investment in Associates” and FRS 131
“Interests in Joint Ventures”.

Previously when the Group ceased to have control, joint control or significant influence over an entity, the carrying amount of the investment at the
date control, joint control or significant influence ceased became its cost on initial measurement as a financial asset in accordance with FRS 139.
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ECONOMIC ENTITIES IN THE GROUP (CONTINUED)

(f) Interests in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and associates, the difference between disposal
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

RECOGNITION OF INTEREST/PROFIT INCOME AND INTEREST/PROFIT EXPENSE

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments are recognised within “interest income” and “interest expense” in the statement
of income using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial instruments or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument and includes any fees
or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses.

Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Income from Islamic banking business is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the principles of Shariah.

RECOGNITION OF FEES AND OTHER INCOME

Fees and commissions are recognised as income when all conditions precedent are fulfilled. Commitment fees for loans, advances and financing that
are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and income which forms an integral part of the effective interest rate of a
financial instrument is recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the financial instrument.

Guarantee fees, portfolio management fees and income from asset management and securities services which are material are recognised as income
based on a time apportionment method.

Brokerage fees are recognised as income based on inception of such transactions.
Fees from advisory and corporate finance activities are recognised as income on completion of each stage of the engagement.

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established.



CIMB GROUP HOLDINGS BERHAD 0 43 ‘ Annual Report 2011

Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Group Accounting Policies
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

E

FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

The Group and the Company allocate their financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and receivables, financial investments held-to-maturity and financial investments available-for-sale. Management determines the classification of its
financial instruments at initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise of financial assets held for trading and other financial assets designated by the
Group and the Company as fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near
term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging
instruments.

(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.

(iii) Financial investments held-to-maturity
Financial investments held-to-maturity are non-derivative instruments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s
and the Company’s management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group or the Company sells other than an
insignificant amount of financial investments held-to-maturity, the entire category will be tainted and reclassified as financial investments
available-for-sale.

(iv) Financial investments available-for-sale
Financial investments available-for-sale are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs
for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or that are not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivables and financial investments held-to-maturity.

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs for securities carried at fair value through profit or loss are taken directly to the statement of income.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and financial investments available-for-sale are subsequently carried at fair value, except for
investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured in
which case the investments are stated at cost. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are included in the statement of income in the period which they arise. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial
investments available-for-sale are recognised directly in other comprehensive income until the securities are derecognised or impaired at which time
the cumulative gains or loss previously recognised in equity are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income. Foreign exchange gains or
losses of financial investments available-for-sale are recognised in the statement of income in the period it arises.

Financial investments held-to-maturity are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from
the de-recognition or impairment of the securities are recognised in the statement of income.

Interest from financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss, financial investments available-for-sale and financial investments held-to-maturity
is calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in the profit or loss. Dividends from available-for-sale equity instruments are
recognised in the statement of income when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value — which is the cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan including the
transaction costs, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest on loans is included in the
statement of income. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and recognised
in the statement of income.
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FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(d) Reclassification of financial assets
The Group and the Company may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial assets held for trading out of the held for trading category if the
financial asset is no longer held for the purposes of selling in the near term. In addition, the Group and the Company may choose to reclassify
financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held for trading or available-for-sale categories if the Group and
the Company have the intention and ability to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications are made at the fair value at the date of the reclassification. The fair values of the securities become the new cost or amortised
cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before the reclassification date are subsequently made. The effective
interest rates for the securities reclassified to held-to-maturity category are determined at the reclassification date. Further changes in estimates of
future cash flows are recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rates.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, except for trading liabilities and liabilities designated at fair value, which are held at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial liabilities not carried at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in statement of
income. Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished.

(@) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading, and financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss upon initial recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term
or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated and effective as hedging instruments. The
specific Group and Company accounting policy on derivatives is detailed in Note P.

The financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss upon initial recognition are trading derivatives.

(b) Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are not classified as fair value through profit or loss fall into this category and are measured at amortised cost. The financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from customers, deposits and placement of banks and other financial institutions, repurchase
agreements, bills and acceptances payable, sundry creditors, bonds, other borrowings, subordinated notes and redeemable preference shares.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been
transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards
have not been transferred, the Group tests control to ensure that continuing involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent
derecognition). Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

Collateral furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements transactions is not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met.
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H

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a)

(b)

Assets carried at amortised cost

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criterias the Group and the Company use to determine that there is objective evidence of impairment loss include indications that the borrower
or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant financial difficulty, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation,
default of delinquency in interest or principal payments and where observable data indicates that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The Group and the Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of income. If a loan or financial investments held-to-maturity have a variable
interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the contract.

Financial assets that have not been individually assessed are grouped together for portfolio impairment assessment. These financial assets are
grouped according to their credit risk characteristics for the purposes of calculating an estimated collective loss. These characteristics are relevant
to the estimation of future cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the assets being assessed. Future cash flows on a group of financial assets that are collectively assessed for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Group and the Company to reduce any
differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. Such loans are written off after taking into
consideration the realisable value of collateral, if any, when in the judgement of the management, there is no prospect of recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment losses decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting
the allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement of income.

The Group is currently reporting under BNM'’s transitional arrangement as prescribed in the guideline on “Classification and Impairment Provisions
for Loans or Financing” issued on 8 June 2011. However, the Group’s financial statements are prepared in full compliance under FRS 139
principles.

Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group and the Company assess at each date of the statements of financial position whether there is objective evidence that the financial asset
is impaired.

For debt securities, the Group and the Company use criteria and measurement of impairment loss applicable for “assets carried at amortised cost”
above. If in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as financial investments available-for-sale increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in statement of income, the impairment loss is reversed
through statement of income.



Annual Report 2011 ‘ 0 46 CIMB GROUP HOLDINGS BERHAD
Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Group Accounting Policies
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011

H

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale (Continued)

In the case of equity instruments classified as financial investments available-for-sale in addition to the criteria for “assets carried at amortised cost”
above, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining whether the securities are
impaired. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial investments available-for-sale has been incurred, the cumulative loss that
has been recognised directly in equity is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement of income. The amount of
cumulative loss that is reclassified to the statement of income is the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in statement of income. Impairment losses recognised in statement of income on equity
instruments are not reversed through the statement of income.

SALE AND REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

Securities purchased under resale agreements (“reverse repurchase agreements”) are securities which the Group had purchased with a commitment
to re-sell at future dates. The commitment to re-sell the securities is reflected as an asset on the statements of financial position.

Conversely, obligations on securities sold under repurchase agreements (“repurchase agreements”) are securities which the Group had sold from its
portfolio, with a commitment to repurchase at future dates. Such financing transactions and the obligation to repurchase the securities are reflected
as a liability on the statements of financial position.

The difference between sale and repurchase price as well as purchase and resale price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the resale/
repurchase agreement using the effective yield method.

J PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to
the statement of income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Freehold land and capital work-in-progress are not depreciated. Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis to write
off the cost of the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, summarised as follows:

Buildings on freehold land

Buildings on leasehold land 50 years or more

Leasehold land

Buildings on leasehold land less than 50 years

Office equipment, furniture and fixtures
— office equipment
— furniture and fixtures

Renovations to rented premises

Computer equipment and software
— servers and hardware
— ATM machine

Computer equipment and software under lease

Motor vehicles

General plant and machinery

50 years
50 years or over the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter
50 years or over the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter

40 years or over the remaining period of the lease, whichever is shorter

5 years
10 years

5 years or over the period of the tenancy, whichever is shorter

3-5 years
10 years

3 years or over the period of the lease, whichever is shorter
5 years

8 years
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation on capital work-in-progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment at the end of each reporting period and whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it
is written down to its recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amounts and are included in non-interest income.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties, comprising principally land and office buildings, are held for long term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and are not
occupied by the Group and the Company.

Investment properties of the Company are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. At the Group level, investment
properties of the Company are classified as property, plant and equipment as the properties are rented out to an entity within the Group.

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair value, representing the open-market value determined annually by external valuers. Fair value is
based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is
not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes
in fair values are recorded in the statements of income as part of other income.

On disposal of an investment property, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal,
it shall be derecognised (eliminated from the statements of financial position). The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
is recognised in statement of income in the period of the retirement or disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(@) Goodwill
Goodwill arising from business combination represents the excess of the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the Group’s share of the net of
identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units (“CGU”) for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units
or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which goodwill arose, identified according to
operating segment.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed.
Impairment testing is performed annually by comparing the present value of the CGU’s projected cash flows against the carrying amount of its net
assets which include the allocated goodwill.

Goodwill on acquisitions of associates and jointly controlled entities respectively are included in investments in associates and jointly controlled
entities. Such goodwill is tested for impairment as part of the overall balance.
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L INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets are measured at fair value. Other intangible assets include customer relationships, core deposits and computer software.
Other intangible assets are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual or other legal rights, the cost can be measured
reliably and, in the case of intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is probable that future economic benefits attributable
to the assets will flow from their use. The value of intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using
fair value at acquisition. Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet ready for use, are tested for impairment annually. This impairment test may be
performed at any time during the year, provided it is performed at the same time every year. An intangible asset recognised during the current
period is tested before the end of the current year.

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, and are amortised
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets are amortised over their finite useful lives as follows:

Customer relationships:

— credit card 12 years

— revolving credit 4 — 5 years
— overdraft 6 — 7 years
— trade finance 5 years
Core deposits 8 — 20 years
Computer software 3 — 15 years

M ASSETS PURCHASED UNDER LEASE

(a)

(b)

Finance lease

Assets purchased under lease which in substance transfers the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets to the Group or the Company are
capitalised under property, plant and equipment. The assets and the corresponding lease obligations are recorded at the lower of the present value
of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the leased assets at the beginning of the lease term. Such leased assets are subject to
depreciation on the same basis as other property, plant and equipment.

Leases which do not meet such criteria are classified as operating lease and the related rentals are charged to statement of income.

Operating lease

Leasehold land

Leasehold land that normally has an indefinite economic life and title is not expected to pass to the lessee by the end of the lease term is treated
as an operating lease. The payment made on entering into or acquiring a leasehold land is accounted as prepaid lease payments that are amortised
over the lease term in accordance with the pattern of benefits provided.

Others
Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made
under operating leases are charged to the statements of income on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is
recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
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N ASSETS SOLD UNDER LEASE

(@) Finance lease
When assets are sold under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a debtor. The difference between the gross
debtor and the present value of the debtor is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using
the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

(b) Operating lease
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment in the statements of financial position. They are depreciated
over their expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar property, plant and equipment. Rental income is recognised on a straight line
basis over the lease term.

O BILLS AND ACCEPTANCES PAYABLE

Bills and acceptances payable represent the Group’s own bills and acceptances rediscounted and outstanding in the market.

P  DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair
value. Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in active markets, including recent market transactions, and valuation techniques, including
discounted cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities
when fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of any derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the
statement of income.

The best evidence of fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received) unless
the fair value of the instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current market transactions in the same instrument (i.e. without
modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data from observable markets. When such evidence exists,
the Group and the Company recognise statement of income immediately.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the
nature of the item being hedged. The Group and the Company designate certain derivatives as either: (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets
or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedge) or (2) hedges of future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable
forecasted transaction (cash flow hedge) or (3) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge). Hedge accounting is used for
derivatives designated in this way provided certain criteria are met.

At the inception of the transaction, the Group and the Company document the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as
their risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge
inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values
or cash flows of hedged items.

(@) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the statement of income, together with
any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective
interest/profit method is used is amortised to the statement of income over the period to maturity. The adjustment to the carrying amount of a
hedged equity security remains in retained earnings until the disposal of the equity security.
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity. The
gain and loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of income. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled
to the statement of income in the periods in which the hedged item will affect the statement of income.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss
existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the statement of income.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to
the statement of income.

Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating
to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
statement of income.

Gains and losses accumulated in the equity are recycled to the statement of income when the foreign operation is partially disposed or sold.
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for
hedge accounting are recognised immediately in the statement of income.

CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the Financial Statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated Financial Statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in statement of income, and other changes in the carrying amount are
recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities, such as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or loss, are
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-
sale are included in the revaluation reserve-financial investments available-for-sale in equity.
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Q CURRENCY TRANSLATIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

e assets and liabilities for each statements of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the statements of financial
position;

e income and expenses for each statement of income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

e all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowings and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the statement of income as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity beginning on or after 1 January 2006 are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. The Group has applied the transitional provision for acquisitions prior to 1 January
2006 which allows the goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from acquisitions to be treated as assets and liabilities of the parent rather than
that of the foreign entities. Therefore, those goodwill and fair value adjustments either are already expressed in the parent’s functional currency or
are non-monetary foreign currency items, which are reported using the exchange rates at the date of the acquisitions.

R INCOME AND DEFERRED TAXES

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in statement of income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax expense is determined according to the tax laws of each jurisdiction in which the Group operates and includes all taxes based upon the
taxable profits.

Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the Financial Statements. However, deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences
and unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred income tax related to the fair value re-measurement of financial investments available-for-sale, which is charged or credited directly to equity,
is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently recognised in the statement of income together with deferred gain or loss.

Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the statements of financial position
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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S SHARE CAPITAL

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification

Ordinary shares and non-redeemable preference shares with discretionary dividends are classified as equity. Other shares are classified as equity
and/or liability according to the economic substance of the particular instrument. Distributions to holders of a financial instrument classified as an
equity instrument are charged directly to equity.

Share issue costs
Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Dividends
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability when the shareholders’ right to receive the dividend is established.

T EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

(b)

Short-term employee benefits
The Group and the Company recognise a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group and the Company recognise a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group and the Company.

Post employment benefits
The Group and the Company have various post employment benefit schemes. These benefits plans are either defined contribution or defined benefit
plans.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group and the Company pay fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and
will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group’s and the Company’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the statement of income. Once the contributions have
been paid, the Group and the Company have no further payment obligations. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or more factors
such as age, years of services or compensation.

The liability in respect of a defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair
value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past service cost.

The Group determines the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of any plan assets with sufficient regularity such that
the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements do not differ from the amounts that would be determined at the end of the reporting period.

The defined benefit obligation, calculated using the projected unit credit method, is determined by independent actuaries, considering the estimated
future cash outflows using market yields at statements of financial position date of government securities which have currency and terms to maturity

that approximate the terms of the related liability.

Plan assets in excess of the defined obligation are subject to the asset limitation specified in FRS 119 — Employee Benefits.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Post employment benefits (Continued)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Actuarial gains and losses arise from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions. The amount of net actuarial gains and losses
recognised in the statement of income is determined by the corridor method in accordance with FRS 119 and is charged or credited to income
over the average remaining service lives of the related employees participating in the defined benefit plan.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in statement of income, unless the changes to the plan are conditional on the employees remaining
in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period.

Other long term employee benefits
The cost of long term employee benefits (for example, long term service leave) is accrued to match the rendering of the services by the employees
concerned using a basis similar to that for defined benefit plans for the liability which is not expected to be settled within 12 months.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group and the Company recognise termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits faling due more than 12 months after the reporting
period are discounted to their present value.

Share-based compensation benefits

Management Equity Scheme (“MES” or the “Scheme”)

The Group has an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan of the equities in the Group which is settled by a shareholder of the Company.
The Group receiving the employees services should account for the plan as equity settled when it has no obligation to settle the share-based
payment transaction. The value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of options of the Group is recognised as an expense
with a corresponding increase in the share option reserves over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period is
determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted on the date of grant. Non-market vesting conditions are included in the estimation
of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to become exercisable on
the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the estimate to the statement of income, with a corresponding adjustment to the

share option reserve over the remaining vesting period.

Change in accounting policy

Prior to the adoption of the Amendment to FRS 2, the Group did not account for the transaction in its financial statements. The Group had changed
its accounting policy upon adoption of Amendment to FRS 2 on 1 January 2011 retrospectively. As the Group does not have an obligation to settle
the transactions with its employees, the Group has accounted for the transaction as equity settled in accordance with the Amendment to FRS 2.
The impact of the change in accounting policy to the prior period presented is disclosed in Note 52.

Employee Ownership Plan
Effective 1 April 2011, the Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, where ordinary shares of the Company are purchased
from the market at market value and awarded to the eligible executive employees.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the award is fully released to relevant employees (‘the final release date’). The
fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares is recognised as an expense in statement of income over the
period of release, based on the best available estimate of the number of shares expected to be released at each of the relevant release date. On
the final release date, the estimate will be revised to equal the actual number of shares that are ultimately released to the employees.
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IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

The impairment loss is charged to the statement of income unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is charged to the revaluation surplus.
Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. In respect of other assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognised in the
statements of comprehensive income unless it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in which case it is taken to revaluation surplus.

FORECLOSED PROPERTIES

Foreclosed properties are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and reported within “Other Assets”.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised by the Group and the Company when all of the following conditions have been met:
(i)  the Group and the Company have a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;

(i) it is probable that an outflow of resources to settle the obligation will be required; and

(i) a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation can be made.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present values of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. The guarantees are agreed on
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee obligation. No receivable for the future premiums is
recognised. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the amount determined in
accordance with FRS 137 — “Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”, and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
accumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with FRS 118 — “Revenue”. These estimates are determined based on experience of similar
transactions and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgment of management. The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis
over the life of the guarantee.

Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is reported in the statement of income within overheads.
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AB

AC

ZAKAT

This represents business zakat which is an obligatory amount payable by the Group to comply with the principles of Shariah. Zakat provision is calculated
based on the “Adjusted Growth” method, at 2.5% for individual Bumiputra shareholders of the Company.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, bank balances and deposit placements maturing less than one month.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has
determined the Group Management Committee as its chief operating decision-maker.

Intra-segment revenue and costs are eliminated at head office. Income and expenses directly associated with each segment are included in determining
business segment performance.

CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic benefits to the Group. As
this may result in the recognition of income that may never be realised, contingent assets are not recognised in the Group’s financial statements.

Contingent liabilities, which include certain guarantees and letters of credit pledged as collateral security, are possible obligations that arise from past
events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group; or are present obligations that have arisen from past events but are not recognised because it is not probable that settlement will require
the outflow of economic benefits, or because the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably measured.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the probability of settlement is remote.

LIFE INSURANCE FUND

Life insurance liabilities of CIMB Aviva Assurance Berhad (“CAAB”) are recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums are charged.

These liabilities are measured by using a prospective actuarial valuation method. The liability is determined as the sum of the present value of future
guaranteed benefit. For participating life policy, liabilities are measured at an appropriate level of non-guaranteed benefits, and the expected future
management and distribution expenses, less the present value of future gross considerations arising from the policy discounted at the appropriate risk
discount rate. The liability is based on best estimate assumptions and with due regard to significant recent experience. An appropriate allowance for
provision of risk margin for adverse deviation from expected experience is made in the valuation of non-participating life policies, the guaranteed benefits
liabilities of participating life policies, and non-unit liabilities of investment-linked policies.

Adjustments to the liabilities at each reporting date are recorded in statement of income. Profits originated from margins of adverse deviations on run-off
contracts are recognised in statement of income over the life of the contract, whereas losses are fully recognised in statement of income during the first

year of run-off.

The liability is derecognised when the contract expires, discharged or cancelled.
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LIFE INSURANCE FUND (CONTINUED)

At each reporting date, an assessment is made of whether the recognised life insurance liabilities are adequate, net of present value of in-force business
(“PVIF”) and deferred acquisition cost (“DAC”) by using an existing liability adequacy test.

Any inadequacy is recorded in statement of income, initially by impairing PVIF and DAC, and subsequently by establishing technical reserves for the
remaining loss. In subsequent periods, the liability for a block of business that has failed the adequacy test is based on the assumptions that are
established at the time of the loss recognition. Impairment losses resulting from liability adequacy testing can be reversed in future years if the impairment
no longer exists.

FAMILY TAKAFUL FUND

The Family Takaful fund surplus/deficit is determined by the annual actuarial valuation of the Family Takaful fund’s long-term liabilities. Any actuarial deficit
in the Family Takaful fund will be made good by CIMB Aviva Takaful Berhad’s (“CATB”) shareholders’ fund via a profit-free loan or Qardh. Surplus
distributable to participants is determined after deducting claims/benefits paid and payable, retakaful, provisions, reserves, commissions and management
expenses and distributed in accordance with the terms and conditions prescribed by the Shariah Committee in CATB.

GENERAL TAKAFUL CONTRACT LIABILITIES

General takaful contract liabilities of CATB are recognised when contracts are entered into and contributions are charged.
These liabilities comprise outstanding claims provision and provision for unearned contributions.

Outstanding claims provision are based on the estimated ultimate cost of all claims incurred but not settled at the balance sheet date, whether reported
or not, together with related expenses and reduction for the expected value of salvage and other recoveries. The liability is calculated at the reporting
date at best estimate of the expenditure required together with related expenses less retakaful recoveries to settle the present obligation at the statements
of financial position date. The liabilities are derecognised when the contract expires, discharged or cancelled.

The provision for unearned contributions represents contributions received for risks that have not yet expired. Generally, the reserve is released over the
term of the contract and recognised as contribution income.

At each reporting date, CATB reviews the unexpired risks and a liability adequacy test is performed to determine whether there is any overall excess of
expected claims and deferred acquisition costs over unearned contributions. This calculation uses current estimates of future contractual cash flows
(taking into consideration current loss ratios) after taking into account of the investment return expected to arise on assets relating to the relevant general
takaful technical provisions. If these estimates show that the carrying amount of the unearned contributions less related deferred acquisition costs is
inadequate, the deficiency is recognised in statement of income by setting up a provision for liability adequacy.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS/DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets/disposal groups are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell if
their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the significant subsidiaries as set out in Note 12 to the Financial
Statements, consist of commercial banking, investment banking, Islamic banking, offshore banking, debt factoring, trustee and nominee services, property
ownership and management, management of unit trust funds and fund management business, stock and sharebroking and the provision of other related
financial services. There was no significant change in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Board of the Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad.

The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company is 5th Floor, Bangunan CIMB, Jalan Semantan, Damansara Heights,
50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

2 CASH AND SHORT-TERM FUNDS

The Group The Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Cash and balances with banks and other financial institutions 9,299,580 8,204,383 4,979 15,457
Money at call and deposit placements maturing within one month 25,369,265 18,980,877 311,849 514,369
34,668,845 27,185,260 316,828 529,826

(i)  Included in the Group’s cash and short-term funds is non-interest bearing statutory deposits of a foreign subsidiary of RM3,887,585,000 (2010:
RM2,985,829,000) maintained with Bank Indonesia in compliance with their applicable legislation.

(i) Monies held in trust in relation to the Group’s stockbroking business:

The Group
2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Clients’ trust balances and dealers’ representatives’ balances 356,400 307,538
Remisiers’ trust balances 27,683 21,532
384,083 329,070

3 DEPOSITS AND PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

The Group
2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Licensed banks 2,356,084 7,864,641
Licensed investment banks 248,578 232,176
Bank Negara Malaysia and other central banks 1,475,612 3,019,806
Other financial institutions 93,738 629,200

4,174,012 11,745,823
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4

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group
2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
Financial assets held for trading (@) 13,665,700 16,221,146
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (b) - 861,450
13,665,700 17,082,596

(@) Financial assets held for trading

The Group

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Money market instruments:

Unquoted:
Malaysian Government securities 253,409 360,214
Cagamas bonds 52,511 13,186
Malaysian Government treasury bills 90,484 57,779
Bank Negara Malaysia bills 156,856 2,597,966
Bank Negara Malaysia negotiable notes 1,817,293 2,226,623
Negotiable instruments of deposit 2,069,683 1,778,088
Bankers’ acceptances and Islamic accepted bills 575,819 740,811
Credit-linked notes 46,059 123,158
Commercial papers 168,458 163,033
Other Government’s securities 2,933,501 2,053,218
Government investment issues 147,201 320,534
8,311,274 10,434,610
Quoted securities:
In Malaysia
Warrants - 5
Shares 904,743 1,210,166
Outside Malaysia
Shares 6,534 26,102
Private and Islamic debt securities 305,183 57,525
Other Government bonds 448,161 79,143
Bank Indonesia certificates 67,775 1,478,043
Investment linked funds 299,213 54,017

2,031,609 2,905,001
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4  FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(@) Financial assets held for trading (Continued)

The Group

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted securities:

In Malaysia

Private and Islamic debt securities 1,925,800 1,628,798

Shares 6,243 5,948

Outside Malaysia

Private and Islamic debt securities 1,322,944 1,246,789

Shares 58,157 -

Unit trust 9,673 -
3,322,817 2,881,635

Total financial assets held for trading 13,665,700 16,221,146

(b) Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

The

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Money market instruments:

Unquoted:

Malaysian Government Securities - 223,810

Cagamas bonds - 22,536

Khazanah bonds - 8,012

Government investment issues - 195,523
- 449,881

Quoted securities:

In Malaysia

Shares - 81,637

Unit trusts - 10,797
- 92,434

Unquoted securities:

In Malaysia

Private and Islamic debt securities - 265,410

Shares - 2,334

Investment-linked funds - 51,391
- 319,135

Total financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss - 861,450
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4  FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss arises from securities held by an insurance subsidiary which has been reclassified
from financial assets held for trading as a result of the adoption of FRS 139 as at 1 January 2010. These securities eliminate or significantly reduce
a measurement or recognition inconsistency (‘accounting mismatch’) that would otherwise have arisen from measuring the assets at a basis different
from the liabilities of the insurance subsidiary.

With effect from 1 January 2011, the financial results of CIMB Aviva Assurance Berhad (“CAAB”) and CIMB Aviva Takaful Berhad (“CATB”), are now

equity accounted for in the financial statements of the Group (see Note 46(a)). Hence, financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
from securities for the financial year ended 31 December 2011 is RM Nil.

5 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE

The Group

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Money market instruments:

Unquoted:

Malaysian Government Securities 320,703 346,720

Cagamas bonds 201,174 184,494

Khazanah bonds 44,786 -

Other Government securities 25,874 -

Government investment issues 345,990 282,022
938,527 813,236

Quoted securities:

In Malaysia

Shares 26,504 115,676

Unit trusts 122,654 240,949

Outside Malaysia

Shares 21,319 12,074

Private and Islamic debt securities 371,387 24,582

Other Government bonds 2,807,382 2,635,564

Unit trusts 292,209 318,435

3,641,455 3,347,280
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5 FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE (CONTINUED)

The Group

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Unquoted securities:

In Malaysia
Private and Islamic debt securities 6,789,561 6,477,787
Shares 976,604 905,404
Loan stocks 19,774 26,624
Property funds 188 175
Investment-linked funds - 6,947
Bond funds 12,611 12,380
Outside Malaysia
Shares 207,581 80,480
Private equity and unit trust funds 81,604 224,453
Private and Islamic debt securities 1,476,710 176,323
Loan stocks 1,568 1,531
9,566,201 7,912,104
14,146,183 12,072,620
Allowance for impairment losses:
Private debt securities (210,510) (240,661)
Quoted shares (16,854) (27,413)
Quoted bonds (3,411) -
Unquoted shares (128,270) (130,874)
Unit trusts (1,113) (878)
Loan stocks (12,806) (14,092)
(372,964) (413,918)
13,773,219 11,658,702

Included in financial investments available-for-sale of the Group are securities in the form of unit trusts managed by CIMB — Principal Asset Management
Berhad on behalf of the Group amounting to RM3,746,054,821 (2010: RM3,212,092,000).

The table below shows the movements in allowance for impairment losses during the financial year for the Group:

The Group
2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000
At 1 January 413,918 386,632
Net allowance made during the financial year 12,941 23,844
Amount written off (836) (5,474)
Disposal of securities (53,582) (9,716)
Reclassification from investment in associates - 4,986
Exchange fluctuation 523 13,646

At 31 December 372,964 413,918
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6  FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS HELD-TO-MATURITY

The Group

2011 2010
RM’000 RM’000

Money market instruments:

Unquoted:
Malaysian Government Securities 1,088,815 1,123,977
Cagamas bonds 255,977 254,817
Other government securities 490,820 -
Malaysian Government investment issues 862,212 600,245
Bank Negara negotiable notes 9,986 9,948
Khazanah bonds 134,776 -
2,842,586 1,988,987
Quoted securities:
Outside Malaysia
Private debt securities 3,602,677 1,414,395
Islamic bonds 23,818 23,983
Medium term notes — Islamic 3,527 8,565
Other Government bonds 204,816 117,303
Bank Indonesia certificates 363,350 286,090
4,198,188 1,850,336
Unquoted securities:
In_Malaysia
Private debt securities 6,685,239 7,190,838
Loan stocks 30,781 31,814
Danaharta Urus Sdn Bhd (“DUSB”) bonds 795,335 795,335
7,511,355 8,017,987
Outside Malaysia
Private debt securities 2,071,299 2,036,903
16,623,428 13,894,213
Accretion of discount net of amortisation of premium 341,979 271,562
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (46,623) (45,512)
16,918,784 14,120,263

Included in the financial investments held-to-maturity of the Group as at 31 December 2011 are 10-year promissory notes of THB415 million (2010:
THB746 million) maturing between 2011 to 2015. The promissory notes were received from Thai Asset Management Corporation (“TAMC”) for settlement
of impaired loans transferred by CIMB Thai Bank Public Company Limited (“CIMB Thai Bank”) to TAMC. Such promissory notes are non-transferable,
bear interest at the average deposit rate of 5 major banks in Thailand and availed by the Financial Institutions Development Fund. As part of the
agreement to transfer the impaired loans to TAMC, CIMB Thai Bank has a gain and loss sharing arrangement with TAMC arising from the recovery of
the impaired loans. During the financial year, promissory notes of THB331 million has matured and CIMB Bank Thai has recognised a gain of
approximately THB1.009 billion (RM101 million) arising from the sharing arrangement.
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